Hypertension, Atrial Fibrillation and Aldosteronism A Study of Interplay, Predictors and Outcome

Georgios Mourtzinis



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

2018

Hypertension, Atrial Fibrillation and Aldosteronism -A Study of Interplay, Predictors and Outcome

ISBN 978-91-629-0454-8 (print) ISBN 978-91-629-0455-5 (pdf) http://hdl.handle.net/2077/54954

© 2018 Georgios Mourtzinis georgios.mourtzinis@vgregion.se

Printed by Kompendiet, Gothenburg, Sweden 2018

To my parents

ABSTRACT

Background: Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common significant arrhythmia, affecting almost 3% of the adult population in Sweden. Although AF is associated with increased risk of lower quality of life, heart failure, stroke and mortality, the therapeutically options are still limited. Hypertension is a common cardiovascular disease affecting approximately one third of the adult population, and is the underlying cause for more AF cases than any other disease. Almost 10% of the hypertension cases may be due to primary aldosteronism, a condition that can be treated by a specific therapy. Little is known regarding the prevalence of primary aldosteronism in the general population and in the AF population. Moreover, current data suggest that AF is overrepresented among hypertensive patients with primary aldosteronism.

Major research question: The present thesis aims to evaluate the possibility of screening for primary aldosteronism in the AF population, and to estimate the prevalence of primary aldosteronism in the AF population. Furthermore, this thesis aims to assess the role of blood pressure levels and lipid profile in preventing new-onset AF in the hypertensive population.

Methods: In Study I, 149 AF patients < 65 years were screened for primary aldosteronism by using the aldosterone to renin ratio. In the case-control Study III, all AF cases in Sweden between 1987 and 2013 (N=713,569) were identified by using the Swedish Patient Register. An age, sex and place of birth matched control-cohort without AF was randomly selected from the Swedish Total Population Register with a case to control ratio of 1:2 (N=1,393,953). The prevalence of primary aldosteronism for the individuals alive on 31 December, 2013 in both cohorts was calculated through linkage to the Swedish Patient Register. Studies II and IV utilized the primary care hypertensive population in the Swedish Primary Care Cardiovascular Database (SPCCD). Approximately 50,000 hypertensive patients without AF were followed-up between 2002 and 2008, and dichotomized according to AF development or not. The in-treatment blood pressure and lipid profile were compared between the new-onset AF group and the no-AF group.

Results: Four individuals (2.6%) of the screened AF population were found to have undiagnosed primary aldosteronism. The prevalence of primary aldosteronism in December 2013 was 0.056% in the AF cohort and 0.024% in controls. Besides, lower in-treatment systolic blood pressure was found to be associated with lower risk of new-onset AF. Paradoxically, total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol were found to have an inverse association with new-onset AF.

Conclusions: Assessment of aldosterone to renin ratio can be useful for identification of underlying primary aldosteronism in patients with diagnosed AF and hypertension. This recommendation is strengthened by the finding of a doubled risk for primary aldosteronism in the AF population compared to matched controls without AF. Moreover, successful blood pressure control in hypertensive patients may reduce the risk of new-onset AF. Finally, the underlying mechanism regarding the dyslipidemia paradox in AF development is unclear.

ISBN 978-91-629-0454-8 (print) ISBN 978-91-629-0455-5 (pdf) http://hdl.handle.net/2077/54954

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers.

- I Mourtzinis G, Ebrahimi A, Gustafsson H, Johannsson G, Manhem K. Aldosterone to renin ratio as a screening instrument for primary aldosteronism in a middle-aged population with atrial fibrillation. *Horm Metab Res 2017; 49: 831–837.*
- II Mourtzinis G, Schiöler L, Kahan T, Bengtsson Boström K, Hjerpe P, Hasselström J, Manhem K. Antihypertensive control and new-onset atrial fibrillation: Results from the Swedish Primary Care Cardiovascular Database (SPCCD). Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2017;24(11):1206-1211.
- III Mourtzinis G, Adamsson Eryd S, Rosengren A, Björck L, Adiels M, Johannsson G, Manhem K. Primary aldosteronism and thyroid disorders in atrial fibrillation: A Swedish nationwide case-control study. *Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2018. doi: 10.1177/2047487318759853.*
- IV Mourtzinis G, Kahan T, Bengtsson Boström K, Schiöler L, Cedstrand Wallin L, Hjerpe P, Hasselström J, Manhem K. Relation Between Lipid Profile and New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in Patients with Systemic Hypertension (From the Swedish Primary Care Cardiovascular Database [SPCCD]) Submitted.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
LIST OF PAPERS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	11
Atrial fibrillation	11
Electropathophysiology in atrial fibrillation	11
Atrial remodeling in atrial fibrillation	12
Atrial fibrosis	13
Comorbidity in atrial fibrillation	14
Hypertension	14
Pathophysiology in hypertension	15
Autonomous nervous system	15
Endothelium-derived factors	16
Renin-angiotensin system	16
Hypertensive heart disease	18
Primary aldosteronism	18
Diagnosis of primary aldosteronism	19
Screening	19
Confirmatory testing	21
Subtype classification	21
Primary aldosteronism and cardiovascular disease	22
Atrial fibrillation and lipid profile	22
AIMS	24
METHODS	25
Study I	25
Study II	25
Study III	26
Study IV	27
RESULTS	28
Study I	28
Study II	29
Study III	30
Study IV	30

DISCUSSION	32
How common is primary aldosteronism?	32
Where should we search for primary aldosteronism?	32
Blood pressure treatment goal and atrial fibrillation	32
The cholesterol effect on atrial fibrillation development	33
Limitatons	35
SUMMARY AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	36
CONCLUSIONS	37
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	38
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	39
REFERENCES	41
PAPER I-IV	

ABBREVIATIONS

АСТН	adrenocorticotropin
AF	atrial fibrillation
ARR	aldosterone to renin ratio
CI	confidence interval
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
HDL-C	high-density lipoprotein cholesterol
ICD	International Classification of Disease
LDL-C	low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NO	nitric oxide
OR	odds ratio
Р	probability value
РР	brachial pulse pressure
RR	risk ratio
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SD	standard deviation
SPCCD	Swedish Primary Care Cardiovascular Database

INTRODUCTION

C ardiovascular diseases account for the majority of global premature deaths [1]. A common cardiac disease is atrial fibrillation (AF), an arrhythmia affecting almost 3% of the adult population in Sweden [2]. AF is a condition associated with increased risk of lower life quality, heart failure, stroke, and mortality [3,4]. During recent decades the incidence of AF has increased and this renders us with an upward trend in hospitalization and medical costs due to AF [5,6]. Thus, AF has become a major public health issue. But at the same time the therapeutic options for the majority of AF patients have not been substantially increased, still characterized as modest effective and potentially harmful [7]. Therefore, in the absence of effective AF treatment AF prevention should be a priority matter in our health care system. This thesis deals with the opportunity for AF prevention by investigating two conditions promoting AF, namely hypertension and primary aldosteronism, and further the connection to AF, can provide us useful tools in AF prevention.

Atrial fibrillation

First of all it is important to understand how AF arises. AF is characterized by disorganized atrial depolarizations that result in the absence of effective atrial contraction and a rapid chaotic rhythm. Common symptoms of AF are palpitations, asthenia, dyspnea, and angina. However, up to 25% of the patients with AF experiencing no symptoms [8]. The AF diagnosis is based on standard electrocardiogram showing irregular ventricular rhythm without consistent P-waves (Figure 1). Initially, AF is often presented as self-terminating episodes. Over time though, those episodes last longer and end up in sustained forms of AF [9]. The progressive nature of AF depends partly on the progression of underlying structural heart diseases, and partly on the AF itself.



Figure 1. Electrocardiogram of a patient in sinus rhythm (above) and in atrial fibrillation (below).

Electropathophysiology in atrial fibrillation

The pathophysiology of AF has a complex multifactorial mechanism that is still not fully understood. In general, AF requires both a trigger and a susceptible substrate in the human atria. The trigger for the AF initiation is often, but not exclusively, enhanced electrical activity in the myocardial sleeves of the pulmonary veins [10]. As AF progresses to persistent and permanent forms ectopic activity outside the pulmonary veins seems to play a more important role, explaining partly the lower efficacy of treatment with pulmonary vein isolation in those populations [11]. Thereafter, AF is maintained in the vulnerable atrial substrate by a driver mechanism (a sustained rapid ectopic activity or a rapid local re-entry) [12]. Ectopic activity can be attributable to delayed or early afterdepolarizations [13,14]. Re-entrant activity has been described in various theoretical and experimental models. The main concepts of re-entry mechanism are the circular or spiral wavefronts (rotors), and the multiple wavelets. Circus movement re-entry was first demonstrated in cardiac tissue in 1914 [15]. It is characterized by an activation wave that can travel around an anatomical obstacle and reactivate previously excited tissue when tissue refractoriness is short or wave-conduction is slow [16]. If tissue refractoriness is prolonged or conduction is accelerated the re-entry terminates. In 1924, Garrey proposed a theory of re-entry without anatomical obstacle, so-called leading circle concept, demonstrated experimentally by Allessie et al in 1973 [18].

Another re-entry mechanism, the spiral wave re-entry is a rapidly circulating rotor with a wavefront rotating around a central core [19]. Critical for the maintenance of the spiral wave re-entry is the collision of the wavefront with an excitable wavetail of another wave. Furthermore, in the late 1950s Moe proposed the hypothesis that AF was sustained by multiple wavelets [20]. The multiple wavelet hypothesis is supported by numerous experimental and clinical observations, as for example the Maze procedure [21]. According to this hypothesis, continuous wavefront–wavetail interactions lead to wavebreak and generation of new wavefronts. On the other hand, block, collision, and fusion of wavefronts tend to reduce their number. As long as the number of wavefronts is above a critical level, multiple wavelets will be capable to sustain the arrhythmia. However, many remaining gaps between experimental models and clinical observations delay the understanding of AF mechanism, and subsequently the development of effective treatment alternatives.

Atrial remodeling in atrial fibrillation

Atrial remodeling is the essential substrate for the rise of AF. Of importance is that AF itself can promote electrophysiological atrial remodeling, creating also an AF substrate that begets AF [22]. Sustained AF leads to various changes in currents resulting in shortening of the action potential and effective refractory period, and therefore establishment of AF. Increased atrial rate during AF increases Ca²⁺ loading. Myocytes respond by reducing inward L-type Ca²⁺ current to prevent cytotoxic Ca²⁺ overload. This action, though, decreases action potential duration, and promotes AF perpetuation [23]. Besides, increased inward-rectifier K^+ current affects the resting membrane potential that becomes more negative in AF, and may contribute to AF prolongation [24]. The transient outward K^+ current is also affected and consistently decreased in AF, but the effects of this downregulation are unclear but it may indirectly increase the action potential amplitude [25]. Electrical remodeling in AF seems to engage even Na⁺ current, although findings regarding effect on Na⁺ current are discrepant. Moreover, AF causes cardiomyocyte contractile dysfunction due to impaired Ca²⁺ handling and decreased systolic Ca^{2+} transient [26]. Whether AF can produce additional forms of remodeling, particularly when in sustained forms, remains uncertain.

Structural atrial remodeling plays a crucial role in AF establishment. AF is associated with atrial dilatation, which increases the amount of atrial tissue that can accommodate re-entry circuits [27,28]. The most prominent atrial cardiomyocyte remodeling in AF includes increase in atrial cell size with myolysis and perinuclear accumulation of glycogen [29]. These alternations resemble the hibernation state of ventricular myocytes due to chronic low flow ischemia.

Atrial fibrosis

One of the most important factors in the formation of AF substrate is atrial fibrosis. Atrial fibrosis is the cardiac remodeling process that involves cellular components and the extra-cellular matrix leading to the accumulation of fibrotic tissue in the myocardium. There are four major cell types in the normal heart; cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells in the vessels, and fibroblasts. Fibroblasts account for up to 60% of the cells in the heart, although cardiomyocytes determine the total myocardial mass [30]. Fibroblasts' pivotal role is to maintain the extra-cellular matrix homeostasis, and provide structural and mechanical support to the cardiomyocytes. The extra-cellular matrix consists of a dynamic network of fibers (mainly collagen), and is important in maintaining tissue architecture. The extra-cellular matrix is in a constant state of collagen turnover, which is regulated by mechanisms that are incompletely understood. It is, however, known that matrix metalloproteinases are responsible for collagen degradation. Whereas interleukin-1, prostaglandin, Tumor Necrosis Factor α , and Brain Natriuretic Peptide upregulate matrix metalloproteinases production [31].

Atrial fibrosis occurs when fibroproliferative signaling pathways get activated. Angiotensin II is a well-established profibrotic molecule. Angiotensin II mediates profibrotic effect through binding to angiotensin type-1 receptor that stimulates fibroblast proliferation, cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, and apoptosis. Other known profibrotic pathways act through Transforming Growth Factor β1, Platelet-Derived Growth Factor, and Connective Tissue Growth Factor. Reparative fibrosis replaces degenerating myocardial cells, whereas reactive fibrosis causes interstitial expansion between bundles of myocytes. Atrial fibrosis can be the result of a variety of pathological conditions including cardiac dysfunction, valvular heart disease, and myocardial ischemia. Pathologically produced collagen differs from that in normal myocardium [32]. In the healthy heart the number of the fibroblasts is maintained at a relatively low level, but increases dramatically under pathological conditions. During the fibrotic pathway, cardiac fibroblasts differentiate into myofibroblasts, a cell type that is normally not found in the heart. Myofibroblasts have a higher capacity to produce collagen than "normal" cardiac fibroblasts. Besides, myofibroblasts are more responsive to proinflammatory and profibrotic stimuli, and produce a variety of cytokines [30,33]. Thus, myofibroblasts enhance the atrial fibrosis and the inflammatory response in the atria.

Whether structural atrial remodeling is the cause or the consequence of AF remains unclear. Patients with history of any AF had tree- to five-fold greater extend of fibrosis compared with patients without AF, in a post-mortem investigation of patients with and without AF [34]. Another study reported similar degree of collagen expression in paroxysmal and permanent AF [35]. Thus, there are patients with paroxysmal AF having massive fibrosis, while there are patients with permanent AF having only mild

degree of fibrosis. These data do not support the theory that fibrotic alterations are a result of AF. In contrary, AF seems to be a consequence of the underlying fibrotic disease. There is, however, low level of evidence that could provide us an answer to this question.

The golden standard for evaluation of cardiac fibrosis has been the histological quantification through a cardiac biopsy. This method has of course the inherent limitation of the invasive nature. Nowadays, cardiac magnetic resonance imaging has been validated to provide accurate non-invasive assessment of regional myocardial fibrosis using late gadolinium enhancement, while diffuse interstitial myocardial fibrosis is accurately assessed with post-contrast T1 mapping [36]. Magnetic resonance imaging is though expensive and has a limited availability. A new, non-invasive, echocardiographic modality for assessment of the cardiac fibrosis is the integrated backscatter signal analysis by acoustic densitometry [37]. This low-cost technique is widely available and might be useful in assessment of atrial fibrosis.

Comorbidity in atrial fibrillation

In at least up to 90% of the AF cases the disease can be attributable to an associated comorbidity, while remaining use to be defined as lone AF [38]. The exactly proportion of lone AF among AF patients depends on our ability to diagnose concomitant conditions. Most probably, "untrue" lone AF patients with underdetected AF substrate are present in many more situations than we believe [39]. It is suggested that lone AF, i.e., without apparent heart disease, is the arrhythmic manifestation of a structural atrial disease that has been described as fibrotic atrial cardiomyopathy [40]. Over the past years, conditions that promote AF substrate have been identified by numerous studies. The most important conditions related to AF development are ageing, male sex, hypertension, heart failure, valvular heart disease, myocardial infarction, diabetes mellitus, hyperthyroidism, obesity, and obstructive sleep apnea [41-44]. Because of its high prevalence in the general population, hypertension is the underlying modifiable cause for more AF than any other risk factor [38,45]. Hence, hypertension is an obvious target in AF prevention.

Hypertension

Hypertension is defined as systolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) \geq 90 mmHg. Those levels have been validated for office blood pressure in numerous studies, while for ambulatory blood pressure and home blood pressure the hypertension cut-off limit has been set slightly lower [46]. It is general agreement that the golden standard for the clinical blood pressure measurement is the indirect auscultatoric cuff/stethoscope method, based on the occluding arm cuff invented by Riva-Rocci and the blood flow sounds observed by Korotkoff [47]. However the auscultatoric cuff/stethoscope method presents inaccuracy and wide range of pressure difference compared to intra-arterial measurement [48]. In general, the auscultator method underestimates SBP and overestimates DBP. The direct intra-arterial measurement, however, is not possible to use in the clinical practice because of the invasive nature. Thus the method of choice is the auscultatoric method, but it should be performed with caution in order to avoid errors like digit preference, too rapid cuff

deflation, inappropriate cuff size, and beat selection during pulse variation. The newer oscillometric method is not better than the auscultatoric method, but it gains acceptance in every day practice because it offers greater convenience [49].

Globally, hypertension is prevalent in almost one out of three adults, without significant differences between developed and developing countries [50]. Only in communities isolated from the modern civilization hypertension has been shown to be absent or present in few individuals [51,52]. Hypertension is not only associated with AF, but is a strong independent risk factor of stroke, heart failure, myocardial infarction, peripheral artery disease, and cardiovascular death [53]. The vast majority of hypertension cases are idiopathic so called essential hypertension, while only about 10% are due to secondary hypertension forms depending on an identifiable cause [54]. Typically, essential hypertension arises in the middle or old ages after an interaction between genetic and environmental factors.

Secondary hypertension forms may be rare, but their diagnosis offers different therapeutically options. The most common causes of secondary hypertension in adults are obstructive sleep apnea, renal parenchymal disease, renal artery stenosis, and primary aldosteronism. While Cushing's syndrome, pheochromocytoma, hypo- and hyperthyroidism, acromegaly, primary hyperparathyroidism, and coarctatio aortae are far more uncommon [55]. Secondary hypertension has, in general, an earlier age at onset. Screening for secondary hypertension is expensive, time-consuming, and in many cases difficult to perform. Therefore, clinical suspicion should guide the screening investigation.

Pathophysiology in hypertension

Hypertension is a disease of vascular regulation resulting from malfunction of arterial pressure control mechanisms. The pathophysiological mechanisms of essential hypertension are complex and not fully understood. Blood pressure is described as the product of cardiac output and peripheral vascular resistance (blood pressure = cardiac output x peripheral arterial resistance). A cornerstone of the essential hypertension is the increased peripheral arterial resistance. But also increase of cardiac output through fluid retention plays an important role. The blood pressure regulation is a complex mechanism of interaction between the vasculature, the heart, the kidney, and the nervous system. The mechanisms that control the arterial blood pressure include baroreceptors that sense acute changes in blood pressure, and thereby affect the autonomous nervous system activity; activation of the renin-angiotensin system through fall in renal perfusion; adrenergic receptors that increase heart rate; endothelium-derived factors that cause vasodilation or vasoconstriction; natriuretic-peptides secretion in response to elevated blood pressure. Malfunction in those mechanisms plays a crucial role in development of essential hypertension.

Autonomous nervous system

All arteries are connected to the network of the autonomous nervous system [56]. The arterial tone is determined by the balance between vasoconstrictory and vasodilatory stimuli. Increased sympathetic tone activates the vascular smooth muscular and increases the vascular resistance. This process is suppressed by inhibitory feedback from the carotid baroreceptors [57]. The human organs differ in the density of α - and β -adrenoreceptors. Activation of α_1 -adrenoreceptors leads to vasoconstriction, whereas stimulation of α_2 -adrenoreceptors leads to vasodilation. Both β_1 - and β_2 -adrenoreceptors increase cardiac output through heart rate raise, but have less effect on the vascular resistance. Moreover, sympathetic innervation has direct effect on the kidneys. Sympathetic activation of the juxtaglomerular cells increases renin release, while sympathetic action on the tubular sodium reabsorption has anti-natriuretic effect. Both those actions result in increase blood pressure. In hypertension the autonomous cardiovascular control is impaired. Already in early hypertensive stages the parasympathetic action is reduced and the sympathetic increased. As hypertension progresses the sympathetic overdrive progress to further potentiation. However, what drives this adrenergic activation to cause blood pressure elevation is unclear [58].

Endothelium-derived factors

The human arteries have a three-coat construction: the inner endothelial coat (tunica intima), the middle smooth muscular coat (tunica media), and the external connective tissue coat (tunica adventitia). The large arteries are supplied with nutrient blood vessels (vasa vasorum), which reach the tunica adventitia [59]. The inner surface of the blood vessels consists of a cellular monolayer that comprises the endothelium. The endothelium plays an important role in the regulation of the vascular tone, and thereby the regulation of the vascular resistance. This regulation occurs through endothelium-produced mediators that affect the surrounding vascular smooth muscle cells. Endothelium-derived constricting factors (e.g., angiotensin II and endothelin) have vasoconstriction effect. On the contrary, endothelium-derived relaxing factors, mainly nitic oxide (NO), cause vasodilation [60]. Of importance is the endothelium-produced kinins (e.g., bradykinin), which both increase concentration of NO and reduce the noradrenergic vasoconstriction effect [61]. Imbalance between those factors leads to excessive vasoconstriction and endothelial dysfunction, which is a major characteristic of hypertension. NO has in addition an anti-inflammatory role by suppressing thrombosis and leukocyte adhesion to the vascular wall [62]. Hypertension has been associated with reduced levels of NO, which leads to impaired endothelial function and structural alterations of the vessel wall [63]. The microvasculature, (i.e., the network of arterioles, venules, and capillaries) is particularly vulnerable because it is the major site of systemic resistance. Especially the vascular beds are susceptible for blood pressure elevation. This process results to microvascular damage, which is the earliest organ damage in hypertension. The structural alterations of the vessel wall in hypertension are described as vascular remodeling. This vascular remodeling has been shown to be predominant for the small vessels, where the lumen is reduced and the media-to-lumen ratio increased [64].

Renin-angiotensin system

It is well established that dysregulation of the renin-angiotensin system contributes to the development and maintenance of hypertension. The renin-angiotensin system produces the active metabolite angiotensin II that has direct actions on the blood vessels, the kidneys, the adrenal glands, and the brain (Figure 2). Angiotensin II action is typically directly vasoconstrictive through activation of the angiotensin type 1 receptor on the vascular endothelium. However, angiotensin II causes hypertension even through other pathways, as for instance through activation of interleukin-6 release that causes vasoconstriction and inflammation [65]. Moreover, angiotensin II plays a pivotal role in blood pressure regulation and sodium homeostasis in the kidneys. Angiotensin II has a direct effect on the proximal tubules to increase sodium reabsorption, and it has a complex and variable effect on glomerular filtration and renal blood flow [66]. Furthermore, angiotensin II acts on the adrenal cortex to stimulate the synthesis and secretion of aldosterone, which in turn promotes sodium reabsorption, water retention and potassium loss, and thus raise of blood pressure [67]. Angiotensin II receptors have also been found in the brain, and current data suggest that reninangiotensin system contributes to hypertension even by direct affect on the central nervous system. Angiotensin II is thought to avoid the blood brain barrier at the sensory circumventricular organs, and through dysregulation of the sympathetic outflow affects key central pathways in blood pressure regulation and blood fluid homeostasis [68]. Moreover, angiotensin II induces vascular remodeling by promoting vascular inflammation. Angiotensin II stimulates nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase and enhances production of reactive oxygen species, which in turn inactivate NO, leading to endothelial dysfunction, and to vascular inflammation by upregulating adhesion molecules, cytokines, and chemokines [69].



Figure 2. The renin-angiotensin system.

Hypertensive heart disease

Hypertensive heart disease is characterized by left ventricular hypertrophy. Elevated arterial blood pressure (i.e., increased afterload) induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, and stimulates fibroblasts and collagen deposit. This fibrotic remodeling process creates a concentric cardiac hypertrophy with increase in cardiac mass at the expense of the chamber volume [70]. When pressure overload is sustained, the diastolic function progressively fails after a point that the left ventricle decompensates and hypertensive heart failure with preserved ejection fraction appears. In contrast, when the volume overload is sustained, the left ventricle undergo an eccentric remodeling that leads to increase in both cardiac mass and chamber volume. Decompensation of the eccentric remodeled left ventricle results to heart failure with reduced ejection fraction [71]. Moreover, hypertension promotes coronary artery atherosclerosis, a major risk of ischemic systolic heart failure. Hence, hypertension plays a pivotal role in heart failure progression.

There is a strong association between hypertension and atrial remodeling, i.e., the susceptible AF substrate. Hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy have been found to have an association with slower conduction velocity and sustained AF inducibility [72]. Hypertension in an ovine-model, resulted in biatrial hypertrophy, left atrial dysfunction, greater AF inducibility, and increased interstitial fibrosis [73]. Whereas elevated afterload, i.e., hypertension, in a rat-model resulted to atrial remodeling that includes atrial fibrosis, altered gap-junction protein expression, conduction abnormalities, and increased inducibility of AF [74]. Consequently, hypertension creates substrate needed for AF development.

In general, SBP rises throughout life, while DBP rises until the age of 50-60 and thereafter progressively falls due to progressive arterial stiffness. Increased arterial stiffness can be measured as higher pulse pressure velocity. Aortic pulse pressure velocity is an independent strong predictor of cardiovascular mortality [75]. Besides, hypertension is linked to impaired vascular elasticity that also indicates substantially increased stiffness of the large artery wall [76]. Hypertensive patients who progressively develop heart failure usually develop normal or low blood pressure as heart failure becomes more severe. This phenomenon of low blood pressure despite increased peripheral vascular resistance depends on fall in cardiac output [71].

Primary aldosteronism

Dr. Jerome W. Conn was Professor of Medicine at the University of Michigan when he introduced the term primary aldosteronism in 1954 [77]. Dr. Conn had previously, for more than six months, examined a 34-years-old woman with hypertension, hypokalemia, alkalosis, and history of muscle spasm, tetany and weakness. Thereafter he explained the clinical picture through possible excess secretion of the adrenal saltretaining corticoid, and he planned for bilateral adrenalectomy. During the operation, a huge right adrenal tumor was found and expired, while contralateral gland left intact. The patient's clinical condition were reversed, and Dr. Conn established the relationship between aldosterone-producing adenoma, hypertension, and hypokalemia [78]. Later, although, it has been found that half of the primary aldosteronism cases depend on idiopathic adrenal hyperplasia (unilateral or bilateral) and half of them on aldosterone-producing adenoma [79,80]. Other subtypes of primary aldosteronism as familial hyperaldosteronism, aldosterone-producing adrenocortical carcinoma, and ectopic aldosterone-producing tumor are extremely rare [78]. Furthermore, it is now recognized that only 9-37% of patients with primary aldosteronism has hypokalemia [81,82].

Aldosterone is the main mineralocorticoid hormone, responsible for the regulation of extracellular volume, blood pressure, and control of potassium homeostasis [83]. The main action of aldosterone is to regulate the transport of Na+, K+, and water over the epithelial cells, particularly in the renal collecting duct and distal convoluted tubule, but also in the parotid gland and colon. The aldosterone effect is mediated by the mineralocorticoid receptor, leading to Na+ and water retention, and K+ excretion [84].

The synthesis of aldosterone takes place in the zona glomerulosa, the outer layer of the adrenal cortex [85]. The major stimulators of aldosterone synthesis are angiotensin II, potassium, and adrenocorticotropin (ACTH). Renin, produced in the juxtaglomerular cells of the kidney, upregulates the aldosterone synthesis by enzymatic cleavage of inactive angiotensinogen to angiotensin I, which then converts to active angiotensin II by the angiotensin converting enzyme (Figure 2). Situations associated with enhanced renin production are reduced sodium chloride delivery to the macula densa of the juxtaglomerular apparatus, reduced perfusion pressure within the afferent arteriole of the glomerulus and sympathetic activation of the juxtaglomerular cells via beta-adrenergic signals. On the contrary, renin production is inhibited in situations of excessive sodium retention and volume expansion. Renin is also under negative feedback regulation via angiotensin II [83].

In primary aldosteronism, aldosterone excess leads to excessive sodium retention, volume expansion, and eventually hypertension. The increase in sodium chloride delivery to macula densa and the rise in the systemic blood pressure in the juxtaglomerular apparatus result in a remarkable renin suppression. But, aldosterone synthesis is not inhibited because it occurs autonomously of the renin-angiotensin II system. The sodium resorption is accompanied by an increase in potassium and hydrogen ions excretion, leading to hypokalemia and alkalosis. Hence, primary aldosteronism presents the classical clinical picture with hypertension, hypokalemia, alkalosis, elevated aldosterone, and suppressed renin.

Diagnosis of primary aldosteronism

The approach of primary aldosteronism diagnosis includes three phases: screening, confirmatory testing, and subtype classification.

Screening

Taken into account that hypokalemia is present in only a minority of the primary aldosteronism patients, measurement of serum potassium in order to demonstrate hypokalemia lacks sensitivity for primary aldosteronism. Demonstration of elevated plasma aldosterone levels also lack sensitivity for primary aldosteronism, since many patients with primary aldosteronism do have plasma aldosterone concentration within the normal range [86]. Besides, elevated plasma aldosterone levels may be observed due to raised renin and angiotensin II in secondary aldosteronism (e.g., heart failure, liver failure, renovascular disease) or under treatment with diuretics. Measurement of plasma renin is more sensitive for primary aldosteronism than measurement of potassium or aldosterone levels, since renin should always be suppressed in primary aldosteronism. However, plasma renin may be suppressed because of: 1) Treatment with beta-adrenoreceptor blockers [87,88]. 2) Treatment with agents promoting salt retention (e.g., nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs). 3) Diet with high sodium intake [89]. 4) Lower renin production due to reduced renal function in advancing age [90]. 5) Renal impairment [89]. 6) Other low-renin forms of hypertension (e.g., Liddle syndrome [91], deficiency of 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 [92], primary glucocorticoid resistance [93]). The aldosterone to renin ratio (ARR) addresses many of the above limitations, and is now the recommended screening test for primary aldosteronism.

ARR is based on the paired measurement of plasma aldosterone and renin concentrations, where typically primary aldosteronism results in elevated aldosterone and suppressed renin, and therefore a between them elevated ratio. Plasma aldosterone circulates in picomolar concentrations, creating a challenge for high sensitive and accurate assays. A concern in plasma aldosterone measurement is that different, although well established, assays demonstrate variability in reported performance [94]. The most modern way to measure renin is the direct renin concentration, which offers a less labor and time-consuming procedure comparing with the previously used plasma renin activity [95]. ARR seems to be more sensitive for variations in renin rather than aldosterone, especially in the lower renin concentrations, small absolute changes in renin result in large ARR changes [96]. Of importance is also that ARR has demonstrates a high within-patient reproducibility after withdrawal of interfering medication [97]. There is however a substantial variability in the ARR cut-off values, mainly due to the lack of uniformity in diagnostic protocols and assay methods for measuring the ARR [89]. The sensitivity and specificity of ARR varies depending on the choice of cut-off value. Several studies have present a wide span of sensitivity (66% to 100%) and specificity (61% to 100%), depending also on the tested population and the test performance [98,99].

A key issue for the interpretation of the ARR is the interfering conditions during the test. Necessary conditions for ARR testing are normokalemia (aim plasma K+ of 4.0 mmol/l), liberal sodium-intake diet, and withdrawal of mineralocorticoid-receptor antagonists, amiloride, potassium-wasting diuretics, and licorice root products for at least four weeks. It has to be taken into consideration that renal failure can lead to false-positive ARR, patients >65 years may have lowered renin production, ovulating females have higher ARR especially during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle, ARR is more sensitive if blood collected midmorning after the patient has been up for at least two hours and seated for 5–15 minutes, estrogen-containing medications may lower renin and cause false-positive ARR. Besides, beta-adrenergic blockers, central agonists (e.g., clonidine, alpha-methyldopa), and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs reduce renin more than aldosterone and may cause false-positive ARR. On the contrary, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin-receptor block-

ers cause rise in renin, and therefore false-negative ARR. If the results of ARR are not diagnostic withdrawal of interfering medication for at least two weeks should be considered [89].

Confirmatory testing

ARR is only a screening test. Thus, patients with positive ARR result should undergo further examination in order to confirm or exclude the primary aldosteronism suspicion. The Endocrine Society recommends the use of one of the four confirmatory testing procedures; oral sodium loading, saline infusion, fludrocortisone suppression, and captopril challenge [89].

Oral sodium loading consists of administration of salt supplementation for three days, high 24h urinary aldosterone excretion level the third day makes primary aldosteronism highly likely. Saline infusion test requires intravenous infusion of two liters of 0.9% saline over four hours, thereafter high postinfusion plasma aldosterone level makes primary aldosteronism very probable. Fludrocortisone suppression test requires four days hospitalization and the consumption of fludrocortisone tablets together with potassium and salt supplementation, high plasma aldosterone on the fourth day confirms primary aldosteronism. In captopril challenge test, patients receive 25–50 mg of captopril orally, and primary aldosteronism is likely if plasma aldosterone remains elevated and renin remains suppressed one to two hours after the challenge. Besides, those tests comprise a risk of hypertension-worsening and should be performed under standardized monitor conditions. It is important to point out, however, that the above described confirmatory tests do not have perfect sensitivity and specificity [100,101]. Further investigation may be needed, if the clinical suspicion still exists although negative confirmatory test result.

Subtype classification

Subtype classification is of importance because it guides the choice of primary aldosteronism treatment. In case of unilateral disease (aldosterone producing adenoma or unilateral adrenal hyperplasia), unilateral adrenalectomy results in normalization of hypokalemia, while hypertension is always improved and in up to half of the cases cured [102,103]. In bilateral disease (bilateral adrenal hyperplasia) the treatment of choice is medical therapy with mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (spironolactone or eplerenone) [104].

Performance of adrenal computed tomography is recommended in order to assess the presence of large tumors with image phenotype suspicious for carcinoma. Besides, compute tomography is useful for localizing the adrenal veins. But adrenal computed tomography is not appropriate examination to identify lateralization of the source of the excessive aldosterone. Computed tomography seems to be accurate only in half of the examined cases, while a quarter of the patients may incorrectly be excluded from adrenalectomy and a quarter of them may be led to a unnecessary surgery [105]. Further, magnetic resonance imaging has no advantage over computer tomography in subtype evaluation, likely due to less spatial resolution than computed tomography. A systematic review has shown that magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography misdiagnosed the cause of primary aldosteronism in 37% of patients [106]. The

most accurate, and only reliable, way to differentiate unilateral from bilateral forms of primary aldosteronism is to perform adrenal venous sampling [89]. Blood from both adrenal veins and a peripheral vein is taken, and assayed for aldosterone and cortisol concentrations. However, the criteria for lateralization vary widely, but a so-called lateralization-index is required. Furthermore, young adults with severe hypertension and family history of early-onset hypertension or premature hemorrhagic stroke may have a rare familial form of primary aldosteronism, and should be considered for genetic examination [107].

Primary aldosteronism and cardiovascular disease

Accumulating evidence since the 2000s suggests that cardiovascular diseases are overrepresented among patients with primary aldosteronism compared with patients with essential hypertension. Primary aldosteronism seems to have three to six times higher risk of myocardial infarction and almost three times higher risk of heart failure, compared with essential hypertension matched for age, sex, and blood pressure. Furthermore, the risk of AF seems to be four to twelve times higher in primary aldosteronism than in essential hypertension [108,109].

Experimental data suggest that aldosterone induces direct cardiovascular effect regardless hemodynamic alternations. The classical mineralocorticoid receptor was cloned and characterized in 1987 [110]. Expression of the mineralocorticoid receptor has, not unexpected, been located in the distal tubule and the collecting duct of the kidney. But, mineralocorticoid receptor has even been identified in endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle, macrophages, adipocytes, cardiomyocytes, and the hippocampus of the brain [111,112]. These findings extend the aldosteronism effects bevond the sodium and water retention mechanism, and suggest a direct aldosterone action on these sites. Indeed, aldosterone excess can induce endothelial dysfunction and vascular remodeling in endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells, and can also increase vascular resistance [113]. In addition to causing hypertension, aldosterone excess seems to induce cardiovascular remodeling, causing fibrosis and increasing the left ventricular mass [114,115]. In animal model aldosterone promotes atrial fibrosis, myocyte hypertrophy, and conduction disturbances leading to higher incidence of AF [116]. Whereas mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist, eplerenone, has been found able to attenuate aldosterone induced cardiac fibrosis in mice-models [117]. Moreover, in animal models, aldosterone induces cardiac electrical remodeling by increasing the Ca^{2+} currents density [117], and by causing alternations in the K⁺ currents leading to shortening of action potential [118]. Consequently, there is evidence of direct aldosterone effect on the cardiovascular system, outside the aldosteronismhypertension pathway.

Atrial fibrillation and lipid profile

Cholesterol is a strong risk factor of cardiovascular disease [119,120]. There is, also, evidence that cholesterol lowering treatment reduce both cardiovascular events and mortality in both men and women [121-123]. On the contrary, the relationship between dyslipidemia and AF is still controversial. Studies from the United States of America, Japan, and Europe have shown that lower total cholesterol and low-density

lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels were associated with higher new-onset AF [124-126]. But this inverse association of total cholesterol and LDL-C with the risk of new-onset AF could not be reproduced in the composite of two large studies in North America [127]. In contrast, this composite-study demonstrated an inverse association only between high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and new-onset AF. While an association between higher triglycerides levels and new-onset AF was also reported. Consequently, we face a paradoxical phenomenon where elevated cholesterol levels seem to be associated with a reduced risk of new-onset AF. Most important, there in no satisfactory rationale to support the connection of lower blood cholesterol levels with lower risk of new-onset AF.

AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis is to study factors associated with the prevention of AF. This objective is achieved by evaluating knowledge gaps and controversies regarding AF development in the hypertensive population.

Study I

The aim of this study was to determine the usefulness of ARR as a screening instrument for primary aldosteronism in an AF population with relatively low cardiovascular risk profile.

Study II

The aim of this study was to evaluate the importance of blood pressure level for the development of new-onset AF in real-life treated hypertensive patients.

Study III

This study aimed to assess the prevalence of primary aldosteronism in the AF population. A secondary aim in this study was to compare the prevalence of primary aldosteronism with the prevalence of hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism in the same population.

Study IV

The aim of this study was to evaluate the association between the lipid profile and the development of AF in a hypertensive population. Moreover this study aimed to investigate this effect in relation to gender.

METHODS

Study I

All consecutive patients under 65 years of age, with at least one electrocardiogramdocumented AF episode at the Department of Medicine and Emergencies at Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Mölndal Sweden between January 2006 and December 2008, were offered to participate in this study. A total of 356 eligible patients with AF were invited to participate and 149 of them (73% male) accepted to take part in the study, and underwent screening for primary aldosteronism using the ARR. The screening procedure was done under concomitant antihypertensive medication. Aldosterone was measured using the Aldosterone Coat-A-Count, kit insert, Siemens, PITKAL-5, 20061229 (reference range for supine position 30-444 pmol/L and for standing position 110-860 pmol/l). The Direct Renin (310470) was measured using the Liaison, DiaSorin S.p.A. (reference range for supine position 2.8-40 mIU/l and for standing position 4.4-46 mIU/l), lower detection limit 2.8 mIU/l. The blood samples were taken in the sitting position after 15 minutes of rest and were sent to the laboratory for direct analysis.

Baseline characteristics including medical history, medication, serum-potassium, serum-creatinine and blood pressure were retrieved at the time of enrollment. In all participants with increased ARR (>65 pmol/mIU) beta-blockade was withdrawn for 3 weeks and ARR was measured again in order to unmask false positive results before confirmatory tests. All participants without beta-blockade and positive ARR were referred for confirmatory test.

Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare mean difference. Fisher's exact test was used for comparison of proportions. Pearson's chi-squared test was used to compare proportions of elevated ARR in hypertensive and non-hypertensive patients. Statistical significance was considered with a two-sided probability (P) <0.05. IBM® SPSS® Statistics Version 20 was used in the analysis.

Study II

This study is based on the hypertensive population of the Swedish Primary Care Cardiovascular Database (SPCCD). SPCCD is a large primary health care cohort of 74,751 patients \geq 30 years old attending primary health care with a recorded diagnosis of hypertension during 2001-2008. The SPCCD includes 48 primary health care centers with an almost total regional coverage of patients in a rural (Skaraborg) and an urban (south-west Stockholm) region in Sweden. A purpose-built software was used to extract information from the digital medical records, including diagnoses codes according to the International Classification of Disease 10th revision (ICD-10), clinical chemistry, and blood pressure values. The unique personal identity number assigned to each Swedish resident was used to link data from the National Patient Register. The National Patient Register includes diagnose codes according to the ICD-10 for all hospital inpatient and outpatient care in Sweden from 2001.

The current study population consists of all patients in SPCCD (i.e., with diagnosed hypertension), but no documented diagnosis of AF or atrial flutter. In order to exclude patients with long standing hypertension we included only patients with hypertension diagnosed within the last year before inclusion (i.e., from January 1, 2002). All participants were followed until December 31, 2008, or until diagnosed with AF or death. The participants received antihypertensive treatment according to national guidelines and clinical practice, at the discretion of the treating physician. Baseline blood pressure was defined as the blood pressure recorded at the inclusion or the last previously recorded in the SPCCD. In-treatment blood pressure was defined as the difference between SBP and DBP. A blood pressure recording from a single visit in the SPCCD has been shown to give a valid reflection of the average of the three most recent measurements during same year [128]. We evaluated SBP, DBP, and pulse pressure at baseline and at the end of follow-up with respect to AF development.

Comparisons were made by using Student's t-test, and general linear models after multivariable adjustment. Multiple logistic regression was used to calculate odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) for the relationship between in-treatment achieved blood pressure and new-onset AF. The analyses included adjustment for age, sex, diabetes mellitus, heart failure, ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, and number of visits. A 2-tailed probability value (P) of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data management and analyses were performed using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina, USA).

Study III

This original research utilized two national registers in Sweden in order to perform a nationwide case–control study. The case-cohort consists of all patients diagnosed with AF in the National Patient Register during 1987-2013. The National Patient Register includes all hospital in-patient care in Sweden from 1987, and contains also all hospital outpatient visits data from 2001. AF diagnosis was defined according to the codes, ICD-10: 148, ICD-9: 427.31 and ICD-8: 427.92. The control-cohort consists of randomly selected individuals without AF diagnosis from the Swedish Total Population Register, selected with case to control ratio 1:2 and matched for age, sex, and place of birth. The selection of the cases and the controls performed computerized.

Diagnoses data for each individual from the National Patient Register starting seven years prior to the AF diagnosis time until the end of the follow up December 31, 2013 was extracted in order to assess the prevalence of primary aldosteronism, hypothyroidism, and hyperthyroidism among the cases and the controls. Primary aldosteronism was defined as the ICD-10 codes E26.0, E26.8, and E26.9, the ICD-9 code 255.B, and the ICD-8 code 255.00. Hypothyroidism was defined as the ICD-10 codes E03.4, E03.5, E03.8, and E03.9, the ICD-9 codes 244.W and 244.X, and the ICD-8 codes 244.00 and 244.09. The prevalence was reported as the proportion of cases of primary aldosteronism, hypothyroidism, and hyperthyroidism in the population alive December 31, 2013.

Logistic regression models were used to estimate ORs for the prevalence of primary aldosteronism, hypothyroidism, and hyperthyroidism. The logistic regression models were adjusted for age, sex, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, diabetes mellitus, cerebrovascular disease, and cancer. A two-tailed P value of 0.05 was considered significant. Data management and analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

Study IV

This study also utilizes the SPCCD, forming a cohort of hypertensive patients without AF or atrial flutter at baseline that had been included in SPCCD earliest January 1, 2002. This cohort of patients was followed in SPCCD from January 1, 2002 until December 31, 2008 or until diagnosed with AF or death. Besides, data retrieved from the digital medical records. Data upon the participants were also collected through linkage to the Swedish National Patient Register, the Swedish Census Register, the Swedish Register of Education and the Prescribed Drug Register. Patients with new-onset AF at the end of the follow-up were compared to patients without AF with respect to their lipid profile. Lipid profile included total cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C, and triglycerides, defined as the most recent collected in SPCCD at the end of the follow-up. Poisson regression models were used to calculate risk ratios (RRs) and 95% CI for the relationship between different blood lipid measurements and new-onset AF. The analvses were adjusted for age, sex, diabetes mellitus, heart failure, ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, heart valvular disease, chronic kidney disease, thyroid disorder, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, alcohol abuse, antihypertensive medication, lipid-lowering medication, antidiabetic medication, smoking habits, place of birth, education level, and body mass index. A two-tailed probability value (P) of 0.05 was considered significant. Data management and analyses were performed using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina, USA).

RESULTS

Study I

Pathologically increased ARR (> 65 pmol/mIU) was found in 15 participants (10.1%). Six patients (4.0%) were found to have elevated ARR even after beta-blockade had been withdrawn. Further investigation with saline infusion test resulted in a diagnosis of primary aldosteronism in four individuals out of 149 (2.6%) (Figure 3). Three out of the four individuals with primary aldosteronism had previously been diagnosed with hypertension, but only one out of the four had uncontrolled blood pressure (i.e., >140/90 mmHg). Besides, two of those patients were treated with two or more anti-hypertensive agents. All participants had normal potassium levels. Individuals with increased ARR had significantly higher mean systolic and diastolic blood pressure in comparison to participants with normal ARR (136 vs. 126 mmHg, p=0.02 and 84 vs. 78 mmHg, p=0.02). Furthermore, an increased ARR above the cut-off value of 65 pmol/mIU was almost twice as often found in patients with both AF and a history of hypertension compared to patients with AF but without hypertension, 13.6% and 7.8%, respectively (p=0.25).



Figure 3. Screening procedure for primary aldosteronism in an atrial fibrillation population.

Study II

We followed 45,530 hypertensive patients with no previously documented AF. After a mean follow-up of 3.5 years and a total of 158,222 person-years, 2057 patients (4.5%) developed AF. Compared to patients with no AF, the new-onset AF group had 4.0 mmHg higher multivariable-adjusted mean in-treatment SBP (95% CI: 3.4 to 5.0; p<0.0001), and 1.7 mmHg DBP (95% CI: 1.3 to 2.2; p<0.0001). Similarly, multivariable-adjusted mean in-treatment pulse pressure in the new-onset AF group was 2.5 mmHg higher (95% CI: 1.8 to 3.2; p<0.001) (Table 1). In a multivariable-adjusted logistic regression analysis (Figure 4), achieved SBP \geq 140 mmHg was associated with a higher risk of new-onset AF, as compared to SBP 130-139 mmHg (OR 1.5; 95% CI: 1.3 to 1.7) and to SBP <130 mmHg (OR 1.3; 95% CI 1.2 to 1.6). There was no difference in risk of new-onset AF between SBP 130-139 mmHg and SBP >130 mmHg.

Table 1. Comparison of mean blood pressure and brachial pulse pressure levels of 45,530 hypertensive patients with respect to new-onset atrial fibrillation. AF, atrial fibrillation; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; PP, brachial pulse pressure; CI, confidence interval; *unadjusted. Data are mean ±SD unless otherwise indicated.

	No AF (n=43473)			New-onset AF (n=2057)		
	SBP, mmHg	DBP, mmHg	PP, mmHg	SBP, mmHg	DBP, mmHg	PP, mmHg
At baseline*	159 ±22	89 ±12	70 ±19	163 ±22	86 ±12	77 ±20
Δ baseline and in-treatment*	-14.2 ±21.4	-7.0 ± 11.4	-7.3 ±16	-12.8 ±21.9	-4.8 ±10.8	-8.1 ±18
In-treatment* (95% CI)	145 (145, 145)	82 (81, 82)	64 (63, 64)	151 (150, 151)	81 (80, 81)	70 (69, 70)
In-treatment, adjusted for age (95% CI)	145 (145, 145)	81 (81, 82)	64 (64, 64)	149 (149, 148)	83 (83, 84)	66 (65, 67)
In-treatment, adjusted for age, sex and comorbidity (95% CI)	145 (145, 145)	81 (81, 82)	64 (64, 64)	149 (149, 150)	83 (83, 84)	66 (66, 67)



Figure 4. Adjusted odds ratios for new-onset atrial fibrillation according to in-treatment systolic blood pressure. Adjusted for age, sex, diabetes mellitus, heart failure, ischemic heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease. SBP, systolic blood pressure; AF, atrial fibrillation; OR, odds ratio CI, confidence interval.

Study III

A total of 713,569 patients (53% men, mean age 74 years) received a first hospital diagnostic code of AF between 1987 and 2013. The matched controls constituted a cohort of 1,393,953 individuals. The prevalence of primary aldosteronism in December 31, 2013, was 0.056% in the AF population, and 0.024% in the control population. At the same time, the prevalence of hypothyroidism was 5.9% in the AF population and 3.7% in the control population. Whereas the prevalence of hyperthyroidism was 2.3% in AF population and 0.8% in controls. In a multiple-adjusted logistic regression analysis the AF population had a significantly higher risk of being diagnosed with primary aldosteronism compared with controls (OR 1.65; 95% CI: 1.40 to 1.94) (Table 2). Increased risk of AF found also for hypothyroidism (OR 1.42; 95% CI: 1.39 to 1.44) and hyperthyroidism (OR 2.79; 95% CI: 2.71 to 2.86).

Table 2. Adjusted associations between atrial fibrillation and primary aldosteronism, hypothyroidism, and hyperthyroidism compared to controls. Adjusted for age, sex, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, diabetes mellitus, and cerebrovascular disease.

	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)	P value
Primary aldosteronism	1.65 (1.40, 1.94)	< 0.0001
Hypothyroidism	1.42 (1.39, 1.44)	< 0.0001
Hyperthyroidism	2.79 (2.71, 2.86)	< 0.0001

Study IV

A total of 51,020 patients (45% men) were included in the current study. During a mean follow-up time of 3.5 years (178,304 person-years) new-onset AF occurred in 2389 participants (4.7%). In the fully adjusted Poisson regression model, 1.0 mmol/l increase in total cholesterol was found to be associated with 19% lower risk of new-onset AF (95% CI: 9% to 28%), and 1.0 mmol/l increase in LDL-C was associated with 16% lower risk of new-onset AF (95% CI: 3% to 27%). Gender-specific Poisson regression analyses shown that increase in total cholesterol by 1.0 mmol/l was found to be associated with lower risk of new-onset AF with 21% in men (95% CI: 8% to 32%), and 18% in women (95% CI: 1% to 31%). Moreover, a significant inverse association found between LDL-C and new-onset AF in men [relative risk 0.84 (95% CI: 0.70 to 0.99)], but not in women. In contrast there was no significant association between HDL-C or triglycerides and new-onset AF, neither in the whole population nor in respect to separate gender (Figures 5 and 6).



Figure 5. Relative risk of atrial fibrillation in relation to blood lipids among 51,020 hypertensive patients. LDL, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Fully adjusted, adjusted for: age, sex, systolic blood pressure, diabetes mellitus, heart failure, ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, heart valvular disease, chronic kidney disease, thyroid disorder, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, alcohol abuse, antihypertensive medication, lipid-lowering medication, antidiabetic medication, smoking habits, place of birth, education level, and body mass index.



Figure 6. Relative risk of atrial fibrillation in relation to blood lipids among 51,020 hypertensive patients with respect to the gender. LDL, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Fully adjusted, adjusted for age, sex, systolic blood pressure, diabetes mellitus, heart failure, ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, heart valvular disease, chronic kidney disease, thyroid disorder, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, alcohol abuse, antihypertensive medication, lipid-lowering medication, antidiabetic medication, place of birth, education level, and body mass index.

DISCUSSION

How common is primary aldosteronism?

The prevalence of primary aldosteronism is still uncertain; partly because of the inconvenient diagnostic approach, and partly because of the different populations studied. It is important to clarify in which population the prevalence is studied. Primary aldosteronism prevalence has been estimated to be 5%, among newly diagnosed hypertension cases in the primary health care setting [129]. While, it reaches 11%, among patients with newly diagnosed hypertension who have been referred from primary care to specialized centers [81]. In Study III, the prevalence of primary aldosteronism in the Swedish AF population was 0.056%. Whereas in a screened AF population <65 years, in Study I, the primary aldosteronism prevalence was as high as 2.6%. In the general population, though, the primary aldosteronism prevalence is unknown. However, the control-group in Study III consists of the general population without AF, indicating a very low prevalence of primary aldosteronism in the general population. Thus, in selected and in screened populations the primary aldosteronism prevalence is distinctly higher. Not unexpected, it is more likely for primary aldosteronism to be found in the hypertensive population. Furthermore, this thesis points out that AF is associated with a 65% higher risk of primary aldosteronism independently of hypertension.

Where should we search for primary aldosteronism?

The Endocrine Society recommends case detection of primary aldosteronism in patients with sustained blood pressure above 150/100mmHg resistant to three conventional antihypertensive drugs; controlled hypertension on four or more antihypertensive drugs; hypertension and hypokalemia; hypertension and adrenal-incidentaloma; hypertension and sleep apnea; hypertension and a family history of early onset hypertension or cerebrovascular accident at a young age (<40 years); and all hypertensive first-degree relatives of patients with primary aldosteronism [89]. Those guidelines do not mention AF as a group with high prevalence of primary aldosteronism. The results of Study III support those guidelines, presenting primary aldosteronism prevalence in the general AF population of 0.056%. Further, the European Society of Cardiology proposes the detection and management of concomitant conditions in AF [130]. However, primary aldosteronism is not proposed as a modifiable concomitant factor. Nevertheless, Study I identified a relatively young AF population of whom 42% had lone AF and 40% hypertension. In this particular population primary aldosteronism was astonishing high. This finding suggests that AF in younger ages, without concomitant diseases except hypertension, may depend on aldosterone excess. Hence, screening for primary aldosteronism in this context may be of clinical useful, since AF patients with proven primary aldosteronism should have a special therapy approach.

Blood pressure treatment goal and atrial fibrillation

In the past decades, numerous investigations have addressed the issue of drug therapy in hypertension, and the main focus has been on the choice of antihypertensive agent. The first-line agents used in the treatment of hypertension include thiazide diuretics, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, and calcium channel blockers. The choice between those agents depends on patients' comorbidity. In recent years, special focus has been on the blood pressure goal for patients with hypertension. There is now enough evidence, and is general agreement, that blood pressure should be $\leq 140/90$ mmHg. How much lower than 140/90 mmHg the blood pressure should reach is still under debate. In Europe it is recommended to treat the blood pressure to $\leq 140/90$ mmHg, whereas the latest guideline in the United States of America suggests a blood pressure target <130/80 mmHg [55].

Furthermore, for the primary prevention of AF in the hypertensive population, the European Heart Rhythm Association and the European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation, propose an in-treatment SBP goal of <130 mmHg [131]. This recommendation is based on one post hoc retrospective analysis of the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study, among hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy signs on electrocardiogram and without AF at baseline [132]. In this post hoc analysis, every 10 mmHg decrease in SBP as a continuous variable was associated with 13% lower risk of new-onset AF until SBP reached 126 mmHg. Further SBP reduction was no longer associated with lower risk of new-onset AF. In Study II, achieved SBP 130-139 mmHg and <130 mmHg. However, there was no significant difference in risk of new-onset AF between in-treatment SBP 130-139 mmHg and <130 mmHg. Hence, Study II confirms the benefit of targeting SBP <140 mmHg. Whereas an additional AF preventing effect of lowering SBP <130 mmHg remains controversial.

The cholesterol effect on atrial fibrillation development

The metabolic syndrome includes dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, abdominal obesity, and hypertension, and affects 10-20% of the adult population [133]. Moreover, the metabolic syndrome has been associated with higher risk of new-onset AF [134]. Of the metabolic syndrome components, hypertension and obesity are independent risk factors of new-onset AF [135,136]. Insulin resistance was not significantly associated with new-onset AF in the Framingham study [137], whereas higher levels of glycated hemoglobin and diagnosed diabetes mellitus have been associated with AF [138,139]. Paradoxically, an inverse association between dyslipidemia and new-onset AF has been reported. Study IV, reproduced previous findings of inverse association between cholesterol and new-onset AF in a hypertensive population. Why, although, higher cholesterol levels would have a protective effect on new-onset AF is difficult to explain. Previous studies have proposed a possible explanation by an interaction with hyperthyroidism, which can result in both increase in AF and a lowered cholesterol levels.

In Study IV, however, the analyses were adjusted for diagnoses of thyroid disorders. Moreover, it has been suggested that cholesterol has membrane stabilizing characteristics that can prevent AF [140]. Mice models, however, have shown that mice with high serum cholesterol and mice with low serum cholesterol had similar cellular cholesterol levels. In addition, both mouse strains demonstrated an equally increased QT-interval, suggesting the higher importance of the sarcolemmal cholesterol content than the circulating cholesterol. Increased sarcolemmal cholesterol content causes action potential prolongation [141]. Moreover, lipid rafts constitute dynamic platforms that include ion channels, and float in cardiomyocyte membranes [142]. The exact role of these membrane structures is not known. Theoretically, alternations in the consistency of these lipid structures may lead to arrhythmia. It is obvious that the pathophysiology that connects cholesterol and AF is unclear, and further research is needed to clarify cholesterols' impact on AF development.

In the gender-specific analyses in Study IV, the inverse association between total cholesterol and new-onset AF was demonstrated for both men and women. On the contrary, an inverse association between LDL-C and new-onset AF was found only in men. Besides, no gender-specific association could be found between HDL-C or triglycerides and new-onset AF. However, a statistical interaction analysis did not show any significant difference between the genders, suggesting parallel that the study became underpowered when it was dichotomized to men and women. Previous studies, though, have demonstrated inverse association between cholesterol and new-onset AF both in men and women [126,143]. Actually, the gender differences in lipid profile and its effects is complex. Many genes, related to the lipid metabolism, are expressed in a sexual dimorphic pattern that can lead to gender differences [144]. An important issue is of course the action of sex hormones, and particular the hormonal alternations that accompany menopause. Premenopausal women have lower LDL-C and triglycerides compared to men and postmenopausal women, which maybe is mediated through an estrogen facilitated increase in LDL-receptor activity and decrease in abdominal lipoprotein lipase activity [145,146]. In Study IV, however, 86% of the women were >50 years old and probably postmenopausal, which might have attenuated the hormonal gender difference.

Limitations

Study I included only 149 AF patients, but had the power to detect primary aldosteronism in 2.6% of them. The group with elevated ARR consists of only 15 individuals, while the group with normal ARR of 134. That rendered us two unequal sized groups to compare, and further conclusions of the statistical analysis of those groups should be done with caution. A limitation with the screening procedure in Study I is that some of the participants were on treatment with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers. Those treatments cause elevation of renin levels, and therefore the possibility of false negative ARR. The screening procedure was designed also to avoid false positive results. Hence, the possibility of still unmasked primary aldosteronism cases in the studied population is obvious. Overall, withdrawal of concomitant medication in that kind of population is difficult to perform.

Study II and Study IV, as most of the register-studies, were vulnerable to misclassification or missed diagnoses. The studied population is, however, large enough to minimize that problem. Besides, the outcome of new-onset AF may have been missed in cases of asymptomatic paroxysmal AF. The AF-unawareness is, however, a global and not study-specific issue. Moreover, patients were treated according to standard clinical practice and not according to a study protocol, leading to possible treatment-bias. Study III is also vulnerable to misclassification or missed diagnoses. An important limitation to point out is the failure to register hypertension diagnosis in the hospitals [147], and hereby in the National Patient Register. But it is believed that those diagnosis-misses would have affected case- and control-group equal. Furthermore, active screening for primary aldosteronism has not been performed, and was not possible because of the nature of this register-based retrospective study. The magnitude of missed primary aldosteronism diagnoses is though difficult to estimate.

SUMMARY AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The aim of this thesis was to investigate knowledge gaps and controversies regarding AF development in the hypertensive population. Study I proposes a relatively simply screening procedure for primary aldosteronism in the younger AF population. This screening procedure seems to be able to reveal unknown primary aldosteronism cases, where specific treatment could prevent both hypertension and AF development. Those data extend the current primary aldosteronism screening recommendations of the Endocrine Society to a new target group. The weak link in this screening procedure is, of course, the complex performance and interpretation of the ARR. Future and easier to use screening tools could establish a wide use of the primary aldosteronism screening in the younger AF population.

Study II emphasizes the importance of SBP control <140 mmHg in order to prevent new-onset AF in the hypertensive population. In particular, Study II demonstrates the beneficial effect of blood pressure control regardless of type of antihypertensive drug. Whereas a specific antihypertensive agent is more effective in preventing new-onset AF in the general hypertensive population without heart failure is still controversial [148], and an obvious field of future studies.

Study III is the first to demonstrate the primary aldosteronism prevalence in the AF population. Although primary aldosteronism prevalence in the AF population is two-fold higher compared to controls it reaches only 0.056%. However, those results point out that it may be reasonable to screen for primary aldosteronism in case of AF and coincident hypertension concurrence. In the future, more feasible screening tests with high sensitivity and specificity for primary aldosteronism will increase our ability to diagnose and treat this disease.

Study IV assessed the association of blood lipid profile and new-onset AF in the hypertensive population. Lower cholesterol levels were found to be associated with higher incidence of AF as in some, but not all, previous studies. These paradoxical results are in line with the fact that statin-treatment has not been shown to have beneficial effect on AF prevention [149]. Furthermore, the design of this study does not allow us to assess eventual causality between the blood lipid profile and new-onset AF. Given the current known data, AF prevention through lipid profile modification is not a possible option by the moment.

CONCLUSIONS

Assessment of ARR can be useful for identification of underlying primary aldosteronism in young patients with diagnosed AF and hypertension. This recommendation is strengthened by the finding of a doubled risk of primary aldosteronism in the AF population compared to matched controls without AF. Moreover, successful blood pressure control in hypertensive patients may reduce the risk of new-onset AF, but lower cholesterol levels were not associated with lower risk of new-onset AF in hypertensive patients. The underlying mechanism regarding the dyslipidemia paradox in AF development is still unclear and further research is needed. Our task is to be aware of common causes of secondary hypertension, to use the effective antihypertensive drugs available, to treat blood pressure to target goals and hereby prevent cardiovascular disease burden.

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Bakgrund: Förmaksflimmer är den vanligaste betydelsefulla hjärtrytmrubbingen och den drabbar ungefär 3 % av den vuxna befolkningen i Sverige. Behandlingsmöjligheterna för förmaksflimmer är begränsade, trots att förmaksflimmerdiagnosen är förknippad med sänkt livskvalitet, hjärtsvikt, stroke och för tidig dödlighet. Hypertoni (högt blodtryck), en kärlsjukdom som drabbar ungefär en tredjedel av den vuxna befolkningen, är den vanligaste bakomliggande orsaken till förmaksflimmer. Uppskattningsvis 10% av all hypertoni orsakas av primär aldosteronism. Primär aldosteronism verkar vara överrepresenterad bland patienter med förmaksflimmer, men prevalensen av primär aldosteronism i förmaksflimmerpopulationen och i befolkningen generellt är inte helt klarlagd.

Syfte: Målet med denna avhandling är att värdera screening för primär aldosteronism i förmaksflimmerpopulationen och att skatta prevalensen av primär aldosteronism i förmaksflimmerpopulationen. Dessutom syftar denna avhandling till att kartlägga blodtryckets och lipidprofilens betydelse för utvecklingen av förmaksflimmer.

Resultat: Studie I visade att screening för primär aldosteronism bland 149 patienter <65 år med förmaksflimmer avslöjade primär aldosteronism i 2,6% av undersökt population. Studie II demonstrerade att lägre blodtrycksnivå var förknippat med lägre incidens av förmaksflimmer i en stor primärvårdspopulation med hypertoni. Studie III visade att prevalensen av primär aldosteronism i förmaksflimmerpopulationen i Sverige år 2013 var 0,056 %, vilket är dubbelt så högt som bland matchade kontroller utan förmaksflimmer. Studie IV beskrev en omvänd association mellan kolesterolnivå i blodet och incidens av förmaksflimmer i en stor primärvårdspopulation med hypertoni.

Slutsats: Screening för primär aldosteronism kan vara värdefullt för patienter <65 år med förmaksflimmer, särskilt vid samsjuklighet med hypertoni. Bättre blodtryckskontroll hos patienter med hypertoni kan sannolikt förebygga utveckling av förmaksflimmer. Primär aldosteronism är dubbelt så vanligt bland patienter med förmaksflimmer, jämfört med en kontrollpopulation utan förmaksflimmer. Den omvända associationen mellan kolesterolnivå och förmaksflimmerincidens förblir paradoxal eftersom en förklarande bakomliggande mekanism fortfarande saknas.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank all those who supported me in this work, and in particular:

Karin Manhem, my supervisor, for the wise comments and the friendship.

Annika Rosengren and Gudmundur Johannsson, my co-supervisors, for the academic support in the highest competence level.

Ahmad Ebrahimi, for the unlimited support and guiding.

Kristina Bengtsson Boström and Thomas Kahan, for sharing their knowledge and expertise.

Linus Schiöler, for the statistical skills.

Samuel Adamsson Eryd, for the excellent study planning and performance.

Janet Moodh and Louise Ortgren, for the study coordination.

Dimitrios Stappas, for the graphic design support.

Eva Thydén, for the layout of this book.

Ott Saluveer, for the early years and the inspiration.

Lina Dahlén Holmqvist, Anna-Clara Collén, Charlotta Ljungman and *Pär Parén*, former PhD students and successful doctors, for showing the way.

Axel Tjörnstrand, Alexandros Kalamatas, Cecilia Langenskiöld, Emma Hanson, Erik Odhagen, Lene Karlsson, Pavlos Kashioulis, Shabbar Jamaly, Anna Adielsson, Maria Papadopoulou, Anna Nordenskjöld, and Sofia Manousou, for the time as PhD students in the so called "forskarskola".

Maria Hedelin and Gunnar Steineck, the "forskarskola"

Helena Gustafsson, Gunnar Byröd and Jerker Persson, former and present head of the Department of Medicine and Emergency at Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Mölndal, for encouraging clinical research.

Ulf Axelsson, my room-mate, for the pro-academic environment.

Martin Risenfors, Lars Klintberg, Per-Åke Moström, Birgitta Persson, Therese Westerberg, Elias Spanos, Pia Linton Dahlöf, Dritan Poci, Harun Uzel, Aferdita Llapaj Hetemi, Fredrik Melchior, Sara Bentzel, and Tasnim Alibhai, for keeping a high scientific level in the Cardiology Section of the Department of Medicine and Emergency at Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Mölndal. Fredrik Randers and Fredrik Lindgren for all these beers.

Malin Kewenter, Olga Pelaniene, Katharina Börjesson Asp, Eva-Lena Juntikka, Erik Alestig, Maria Benito, Kjell-Arne Ung, Andreas Brunnhage, Ellinor Zügner Forser, Naz Mohammed Salih, Liisa Carlzon, Sverker Domar, Michael Geldermann, Magnus Lans, John Deminger, Carolina Sixt, Daniel Kitamura Bylund, Maria Carlsson Brühl, Emmy Cederqvist, Julia Fabermo, Jonathan Jacobsson, Armando Munios, Jacob Rosenberg, Sofia Thalemius, Julia-Carmen von Glischinski, Maria Roupe, and Ottilia Öhman for keeping the Department of Medicine and Emergency at Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Mölndal alive.

My family, for making this work possible.

Dido Papatheodorou, for being with me.

This thesis has been supported by grants from the Swedish Government under the Läkarutbildningsavtalet/Avtal om läkarutbildning och forskning (LUA/ALF) agreement.

REFERENCES

- 1. Collaborators GBDCoD. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017; 390: 1151-1210
- Andersson T, Magnuson A, Bryngelsson IL, Frobert O, Henriksson KM, Edvardsson N, Poci D. All-cause mortality in 272,186 patients hospitalized with incident atrial fibrillation 1995-2008: a Swedish nationwide long-term case-control study. Eur Heart J 2013; 34: 1061-1067
- 3. Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray JJ. A population-based study of the long-term risks associated with atrial fibrillation: 20-year follow-up of the Renfrew/Paisley study. Am J Med 2002; 113: 359-364
- 4. Thrall G, Lane D, Carroll D, Lip GY. Quality of life in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. Am J Med 2006; 119: 448 e441-419
- Sheikh A, Patel NJ, Nalluri N, Agnihotri K, Spagnola J, Patel A, Asti D, Kanotra R, Khan H, Savani C, Arora S, Patel N, Thakkar B, Patel N, Pau D, Badheka AO, Deshmukh A, Kowalski M, Viles-Gonzalez J, Paydak H. Trends in hospitalization for atrial fibrillation: epidemiology, cost, and implications for the future. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2015; 58: 105-116
- 6. Miyasaka Y, Barnes ME, Bailey KR, Cha SS, Gersh BJ, Seward JB, Tsang TS. Mortality trends in patients diagnosed with first atrial fibrillation: a 21-year community-based study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 986-992
- Ferrari R, Bertini M, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Dobrev D, Kirchhof P, Pappone C, Ravens U, Tamargo J, Tavazzi L, Vicedomini GG. An update on atrial fibrillation in 2014: From pathophysiology to treatment. Int J Cardiol 2016; 203: 22-29
- Zoni-Berisso M, Lercari F, Carazza T, Domenicucci S. Epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: European perspective. Clin Epidemiol 2014; 6: 213-220
- 9. Kerr CR, Humphries KH, Talajic M, Klein GJ, Connolly SJ, Green M, Boone J, Sheldon R, Dorian P, Newman D. Progression to chronic atrial fibrillation after the initial diagnosis of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: results from the Canadian Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. Am Heart J 2005; 149: 489-496
- Haissaguerre M, Jais P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, Garrigue S, Le Mouroux A, Le Metayer P, Clementy J. Spontaneous initiation of atrial fibrillation by ectopic beats originating in the pulmonary veins. N Engl J Med 1998; 339: 659-666
- 11. Blomstrom-Lundqvist C. Atrial fibrillation: from atrial extrasystoles to atrial cardiomyopathy - what have we learned from basic science and interventional procedures? J Intern Med 2016; 279: 406-411
- 12. Dobrev D, Nattel S. New antiarrhythmic drugs for treatment of atrial fibrillation. Lancet 2010; 375: 1212-1223
- 13. Katra RP, Laurita KR. Cellular mechanism of calcium-mediated triggered activity in the heart. Circ Res 2005; 96: 535-542

- 14. Burashnikov A, Antzelevitch C. Reinduction of atrial fibrillation immediately after termination of the arrhythmia is mediated by late phase 3 early afterdepolarization-induced triggered activity. Circulation 2003; 107: 2355-2360
- 15. Mines GR. On circulating excitation on heart muscles and their possible relation to tachycardia and fibrillation. Trans R Soc Can 1914; 4: 43-53
- Comtois P, Kneller J, Nattel S. Of circles and spirals: bridging the gap between the leading circle and spiral wave concepts of cardiac reentry. Europace 2005; 7 Suppl 2: 10-20
- 17. Garrey W. Auricular fibrillation. Physiol Rev 1924; 4: 215-250
- Allessie MA, Bonke FI, Schopman FJ. Circus movement in rabbit atrial muscle as a mechanism of trachycardia. Circ Res 1973; 33: 54-62
- 19. Schotten U, Verheule S, Kirchhof P, Goette A. Pathophysiological mechanisms of atrial fibrillation: a translational appraisal. Physiol Rev 2011; 91: 265-325
- Moe GK, Abildskov JA. Atrial fibrillation as a self-sustaining arrhythmia independent of focal discharge. Am Heart J 1959; 58: 59-70
- Cox JL, Canavan TE, Schuessler RB, Cain ME, Lindsay BD, Stone C, Smith PK, Corr PB, Boineau JP. The surgical treatment of atrial fibrillation. II. Intraoperative electrophysiologic mapping and description of the electrophysiologic basis of atrial flutter and atrial fibrillation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1991; 101: 406-426
- Wijffels MC, Kirchhof CJ, Dorland R, Allessie MA. Atrial fibrillation begets atrial fibrillation. A study in awake chronically instrumented goats. Circulation 1995; 92: 1954-1968
- 23. Nattel S, Burstein B, Dobrev D. Atrial remodeling and atrial fibrillation: mechanisms and implications. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2008; 1: 62-73
- Dobrev D, Friedrich A, Voigt N, Jost N, Wettwer E, Christ T, Knaut M, Ravens U. The G
 protein-gated potassium current I(K,ACh) is constitutively active in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. Circulation 2005; 112: 3697-3706
- Nattel S, Maguy A, Le Bouter S, Yeh YH. Arrhythmogenic ion-channel remodeling in the heart: heart failure, myocardial infarction, and atrial fibrillation. Physiol Rev 2007; 87: 425-456
- Sun H, Gaspo R, Leblanc N, Nattel S. Cellular mechanisms of atrial contractile dysfunction caused by sustained atrial tachycardia. Circulation 1998; 98: 719-727
- 27. Huang G, Parikh PB, Malhotra A, Gruberg L, Kort S. Relation of Body Mass Index and Gender to Left Atrial Size and Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2017; 120: 218-222
- Zou R, Kneller J, Leon LJ, Nattel S. Substrate size as a determinant of fibrillatory activity maintenance in a mathematical model of canine atrium. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005; 289: H1002-1012
- 29. Allessie M, Ausma J, Schotten U. Electrical, contractile and structural remodeling during atrial fibrillation. Cardiovasc Res 2002; 54: 230-246
- Souders CA, Bowers SL, Baudino TA. Cardiac fibroblast: the renaissance cell. Circ Res 2009; 105: 1164-1176

- 31. Begg GA, Holden AV, Lip GY, Plein S, Tayebjee MH. Assessment of atrial fibrosis for the rhythm control of atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiol 2016; 220: 155-161
- Burstein B, Nattel S. Atrial fibrosis: mechanisms and clinical relevance in atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51: 802-809
- Baum J, Duffy HS. Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts: what are we talking about? J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2011; 57: 376-379
- Platonov PG, Mitrofanova LB, Orshanskaya V, Ho SY. Structural abnormalities in atrial walls are associated with presence and persistency of atrial fibrillation but not with age. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58: 2225-2232
- 35. Boldt A, Wetzel U, Lauschke J, Weigl J, Gummert J, Hindricks G, Kottkamp H, Dhein S. Fibrosis in left atrial tissue of patients with atrial fibrillation with and without underlying mitral valve disease. Heart 2004; 90: 400-405
- Iles LM, Ellims AH, Llewellyn H, Hare JL, Kaye DM, McLean CA, Taylor AJ. Histological validation of cardiac magnetic resonance analysis of regional and diffuse interstitial myocardial fibrosis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2015; 16: 14-22
- Zhu H, Zhang W, Zhong M, Zhang G, Zhang Y. Myocardial ultrasonic integrated backscatter analysis in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2010; 26: 861-865
- Nieuwlaat R, Capucci A, Camm AJ, Olsson SB, Andresen D, Davies DW, Cobbe S, Breithardt G, Le Heuzey JY, Prins MH, Levy S, Crijns HJ. Atrial fibrillation management: a prospective survey in ESC member countries: the Euro Heart Survey on Atrial Fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2005; 26: 2422-2434
- 39. Kottkamp H. Fibrotic atrial cardiomyopathy: a specific disease/syndrome supplying substrates for atrial fibrillation, atrial tachycardia, sinus node disease, AV node disease, and thromboembolic complications. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2012; 23: 797-799
- Kottkamp H. Human atrial fibrillation substrate: towards a specific fibrotic atrial cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 2013; 34: 2731-2738
- Schnabel RB, Yin X, Gona P, Larson MG, Beiser AS, McManus DD, Newton-Cheh C, Lubitz SA, Magnani JW, Ellinor PT, Seshadri S, Wolf PA, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ, Levy D. 50 year trends in atrial fibrillation prevalence, incidence, risk factors, and mortality in the Framingham Heart Study: a cohort study. Lancet 2015, DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61774-8:
- 42. Selmer C, Olesen JB, Hansen ML, Lindhardsen J, Olsen AM, Madsen JC, Faber J, Hansen PR, Pedersen OD, Torp-Pedersen C, Gislason GH. The spectrum of thyroid disease and risk of new onset atrial fibrillation: a large population cohort study. BMJ 2012; 345: e7895
- 43. Aune D, Sen A, Schlesinger S, Norat T, Janszky I, Romundstad P, Tonstad S, Riboli E, Vatten LJ. Body mass index, abdominal fatness, fat mass and the risk of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Eur J Epidemiol 2017, DOI: 10.1007/s10654-017-0232-4:
- 44. Gami AS, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Olson EJ, Nykodym J, Kara T, Somers VK. Obstructive sleep apnea, obesity, and the risk of incident atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 565-571

- 45. Kannel WB, Wolf PA, Benjamin EJ, Levy D. Prevalence, incidence, prognosis, and predisposing conditions for atrial fibrillation: population-based estimates. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82: 2N-9N
- Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redon J, Zanchetti A, Bohm M, Christiaens T, 46. Cifkova R, De Backer G, Dominiczak A, Galderisi M, Grobbee DE, Jaarsma T, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen SE, Laurent S, Manolis AJ, Nilsson PM, Ruilope LM, Schmieder RE, Sirnes PA, Sleight P, Viigimaa M, Waeber B, Zannad F, Burnier M, Ambrosioni E, Caufield M, Coca A, Olsen MH, Tsioufis C, van de Borne P, Zamorano JL, Achenbach S, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, Bueno H, Dean V, Deaton C, Erol C, Ferrari R, Hasdai D, Hoes AW, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Lancellotti P, Linhart A, Nihoyannopoulos P, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Tamargo JL, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Wijns W, Windecker S, Clement DL, Gillebert TC, Rosei EA, Anker SD, Bauersachs J, Hitij JB, Caulfield M, De Buyzere M, De Geest S, Derumeaux GA, Erdine S, Farsang C, Funck-Brentano C, Gerc V, Germano G, Gielen S, Haller H, Jordan J, Kahan T, Komajda M, Lovic D, Mahrholdt H, Ostergren J, Parati G, Perk J, Polonia J, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Ryden L, Sirenko Y, Stanton A, Struijker-Boudier H, Vlachopoulos C, Volpe M, Wood DA. 2013 ESH/ESC guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2013; 34: 2159-2219
- 47. O'Brien E, Fitzgerald D. The history of blood pressure measurement. J Hum Hypertens 1994; 8: 73-84
- 48. Picone DS, Schultz MG, Otahal P, Aakhus S, Al-Jumaily AM, Black JA, Bos WJ, Chambers JB, Chen CH, Cheng HM, Cremer A, Davies JE, Dwyer N, Gould BA, Hughes AD, Lacy PS, Laugesen E, Liang F, Melamed R, Muecke S, Ohte N, Okada S, Omboni S, Ott C, Peng X, Pereira T, Pucci G, Rajani R, Roberts-Thomson P, Rossen NB, Sueta D, Sinha MD, Schmieder RE, Smulyan H, Srikanth VK, Stewart R, Stouffer GA, Takazawa K, Wang J, Westerhof BE, Weber F, Weber T, Williams B, Yamada H, Yamamoto E, Sharman JE. Accuracy of Cuff-Measured Blood Pressure: Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 572-586
- Smulyan H, Safar ME. Blood pressure measurement: retrospective and prospective views. Am J Hypertens 2011; 24: 628-634
- Pereira M, Lunet N, Azevedo A, Barros H. Differences in prevalence, awareness, treatment and control of hypertension between developing and developed countries. J Hypertens 2009; 27: 963-975
- Pavan L, Casiglia E, Braga LM, Winnicki M, Puato M, Pauletto P, Pessina AC. Effects of a traditional lifestyle on the cardiovascular risk profile: the Amondava population of the Brazilian Amazon. Comparison with matched African, Italian and Polish populations. J Hypertens 1999; 17: 749-756
- 52. Kaplan H, Thompson RC, Trumble BC, Wann LS, Allam AH, Beheim B, Frohlich B, Sutherland ML, Sutherland JD, Stieglitz J, Rodriguez DE, Michalik DE, Rowan CJ, Lombardi GP, Bedi R, Garcia AR, Min JK, Narula J, Finch CE, Gurven M, Thomas GS. Coronary atherosclerosis in indigenous South American Tsimane: a cross-sectional cohort study. Lancet 2017; 389: 1730-1739
- Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R, Prospective Studies C. Agespecific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. Lancet 2002; 360: 1903-1913

- 54. Rimoldi SF, Scherrer U, Messerli FH. Secondary arterial hypertension: when, who, and how to screen? Eur Heart J 2014; 35: 1245-1254
- 55. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Jr., Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, DePalma SM, Gidding S, Jamerson KA, Jones DW, MacLaughlin EJ, Muntner P, Ovbiagele B, Smith SC, Jr., Spencer CC, Stafford RS, Taler SJ, Thomas RJ, Williams KA, Sr., Williamson JD, Wright JT, Jr. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/ APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hypertension 2017, DOI: 10.1161/hyp.000000000000065:
- Chistiakov DA, Ashwell KW, Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV. Innervation of the arterial wall and its modification in atherosclerosis. Auton Neurosci 2015; 193: 7-11
- 57. Khor S, Cai D. Hypothalamic and inflammatory basis of hypertension. Clin Sci (Lond) 2017; 131: 211-223
- 58. Grassi G, Ram VS. Evidence for a critical role of the sympathetic nervous system in hypertension. J Am Soc Hypertens 2016; 10: 457-466
- Dahlström U, Jonasson L, Nyström F eds. Kardiovaskulär medicin. 1st ed. Stockholm: Liber; 2010
- 60. Tang EH, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial dysfunction: a strategic target in the treatment of hypertension? Pflugers Arch 2010; 459: 995-1004
- 61. Regoli D, Gobeil F, Jr. Critical insights into the beneficial and protective actions of the kallikrein-kinin system. Vascul Pharmacol 2015; 64: 1-10
- Flammer AJ, Luscher TF. Human endothelial dysfunction: EDRFs. Pflugers Arch 2010; 459: 1005-1013
- 63. Feihl F, Liaudet L, Levy BI, Waeber B. Hypertension and microvascular remodelling. Cardiovasc Res 2008; 78: 274-285
- 64. Mulvany MJ. Vascular remodelling of resistance vessels: can we define this? Cardiovasc Res 1999; 41: 9-13
- 65. Brands MW, Banes-Berceli AK, Inscho EW, Al-Azawi H, Allen AJ, Labazi H. Interleukin 6 knockout prevents angiotensin II hypertension: role of renal vasoconstriction and janus kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 activation. Hypertension 2010; 56: 879-884
- Sparks MA, Crowley SD, Gurley SB, Mirotsou M, Coffman TM. Classical Renin-Angiotensin system in kidney physiology. Compr Physiol 2014; 4: 1201-1228
- 67. Munoz-Durango N, Fuentes CA, Castillo AE, Gonzalez-Gomez LM, Vecchiola A, Fardella CE, Kalergis AM. Role of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System beyond Blood Pressure Regulation: Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms Involved in End-Organ Damage during Arterial Hypertension. Int J Mol Sci 2016; 17:
- 68. Biancardi VC, Bomfim GF, Reis WL, Al-Gassimi S, Nunes KP. The interplay between Angiotensin II, TLR4 and hypertension. Pharmacol Res 2017; 120: 88-96
- 69. Schiffrin EL, Touyz RM. Multiple actions of angiotensin II in hypertension: benefits of AT1 receptor blockade. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42: 911-913

- Kahan T. The importance of myocardial fibrosis in hypertensive heart disease. J Hypertens 2012; 30: 685-687
- Messerli FH, Rimoldi SF, Bangalore S. The Transition From Hypertension to Heart Failure: Contemporary Update. JACC Heart Fail 2017; 5: 543-551
- 72. Medi C, Kalman JM, Spence SJ, Teh AW, Lee G, Bader I, Kaye DM, Kistler PM. Atrial electrical and structural changes associated with longstanding hypertension in humans: implications for the substrate for atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2011; 22: 1317-1324
- 73. Lau DH, Mackenzie L, Kelly DJ, Psaltis PJ, Brooks AG, Worthington M, Rajendram A, Kelly DR, Zhang Y, Kuklik P, Nelson AJ, Wong CX, Worthley SG, Rao M, Faull RJ, Edwards J, Saint DA, Sanders P. Hypertension and atrial fibrillation: evidence of progressive atrial remodeling with electrostructural correlate in a conscious chronically instrumented ovine model. Heart Rhythm 2010; 7: 1282-1290
- Kim SJ, Choisy SC, Barman P, Zhang H, Hancox JC, Jones SA, James AF. Atrial remodeling and the substrate for atrial fibrillation in rat hearts with elevated afterload. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011; 4: 761-769
- Pannier B, Guerin AP, Marchais SJ, Safar ME, London GM. Stiffness of capacitive and conduit arteries: prognostic significance for end-stage renal disease patients. Hypertension 2005; 45: 592-596
- 76. Safar ME. Arterial stiffness as a risk factor for clinical hypertension. Nat Rev Cardiol 2017, DOI: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.155:
- Conn JW. Presidential address. I. Painting background. II. Primary aldosteronism, a new clinical syndrome. J Lab Clin Med 1955; 45: 3-17
- Young WF. Primary aldosteronism: renaissance of a syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2007; 66: 607-618
- 79. Rossi GP, Barisa M, Belfiore A, Desideri G, Ferri C, Letizia C, Maccario M, Morganti A, Palumbo G, Patalano A, Roman E, Seccia TM, Pessina AC, Mantero F, Investigators Ps. The aldosterone-renin ratio based on the plasma renin activity and the direct renin assay for diagnosing aldosterone-producing adenoma. J Hypertens 2010; 28: 1892-1899
- Sigurjonsdottir HA, Gronowitz M, Andersson O, Eggertsen R, Herlitz H, Sakinis A, Wangberg B, Johannsson G. Unilateral adrenal hyperplasia is a usual cause of primary hyperaldosteronism. Results from a Swedish screening study. BMC Endocr Disord 2012; 12: 17
- 81. Rossi GP, Bernini G, Caliumi C, Desideri G, Fabris B, Ferri C, Ganzaroli C, Giacchetti G, Letizia C, Maccario M, Mallamaci F, Mannelli M, Mattarello MJ, Moretti A, Palumbo G, Parenti G, Porteri E, Semplicini A, Rizzoni D, Rossi E, Boscaro M, Pessina AC, Mantero F. A prospective study of the prevalence of primary aldosteronism in 1,125 hypertensive patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 48: 2293-2300
- Mulatero P, Stowasser M, Loh KC, Fardella CE, Gordon RD, Mosso L, Gomez-Sanchez CE, Veglio F, Young WF, Jr. Increased diagnosis of primary aldosteronism, including surgically correctable forms, in centers from five continents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89: 1045-1050
- Stowasser M, Gordon RD. Primary Aldosteronism: Changing Definitions and New Concepts of Physiology and Pathophysiology Both Inside and Outside the Kidney. Physiol Rev 2016; 96: 1327-1384

- 84. Connell JM, Davies E. The new biology of aldosterone. J Endocrinol 2005; 186: 1-20
- Nishimoto K, Nakagawa K, Li D, Kosaka T, Oya M, Mikami S, Shibata H, Itoh H, Mitani F, Yamazaki T, Ogishima T, Suematsu M, Mukai K. Adrenocortical zonation in humans under normal and pathological conditions. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010; 95: 2296-2305
- Stowasser M, Gordon RD, Gunasekera TG, Cowley DC, Ward G, Archibald C, Smithers BM. High rate of detection of primary aldosteronism, including surgically treatable forms, after 'non-selective' screening of hypertensive patients. J Hypertens 2003; 21: 2149-2157
- Ahmed AH, Gordon RD, Taylor P, Ward G, Pimenta E, Stowasser M. Effect of atenolol on aldosterone/renin ratio calculated by both plasma Renin activity and direct Renin concentration in healthy male volunteers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010; 95: 3201-3206
- Griffin TP, Browne GA, Wall D, Dennedy MC, O'Shea PM. A cross-sectional study of the effects of beta-blocker therapy on the interpretation of the aldosterone/renin ratio: can dosing regimen predict effect? J Hypertens 2016; 34: 307-315
- Funder JW, Carey RM, Mantero F, Murad MH, Reincke M, Shibata H, Stowasser M, Young WF, Jr. The Management of Primary Aldosteronism: Case Detection, Diagnosis, and Treatment: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016; 101: 1889-1916
- Luo Q, Li NF, Yao XG, Zhang DL, Abulikemu SF, Chang GJ, Zhou KM, Wang GL, Wang MH, Ouyang WJ, Cheng QY, Jia Y. Potential effects of age on screening for primary aldosteronism. J Hum Hypertens 2016; 30: 53-61
- Warnock DG. Liddle syndrome: genetics and mechanisms of Na+ channel defects. Am J Med Sci 2001; 322: 302-307
- 92. Stewart PM. 11 beta-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: implications for clinical medicine. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 1996; 44: 493-499
- Arai K, Chrousos GP. Syndromes of glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid resistance. Steroids 1995; 60: 173-179
- Schirpenbach C, Seiler L, Maser-Gluth C, Beuschlein F, Reincke M, Bidlingmaier M. Automated chemiluminescence-immunoassay for aldosterone during dynamic testing: comparison to radioimmunoassays with and without extraction steps. Clin Chem 2006; 52: 1749-1755
- Leung AA, Orton DJ, Chin A, Sadrzadeh H, Kline GA. Novel Approach to Establishing an Aldosterone: Renin Ratio Cutoff for Primary Aldosteronism. Hypertension 2017; 69: 450-456
- Montori VM, Schwartz GL, Chapman AB, Boerwinkle E, Turner ST. Validity of the aldosterone-renin ratio used to screen for primary aldosteronism. Mayo Clin Proc 2001; 76: 877-882
- 97. Rossi GP, Seccia TM, Palumbo G, Belfiore A, Bernini G, Caridi G, Desideri G, Fabris B, Ferri C, Giacchetti G, Letizia C, Maccario M, Mallamaci F, Mannelli M, Patalano A, Rizzoni D, Rossi E, Pessina AC, Mantero F, Primary Aldosteronism in the Prevalence in hYpertension Study I. Within-patient reproducibility of the aldosterone: renin ratio in primary aldosteronism. Hypertension 2010; 55: 83-89

- Jansen PM, van den Born BJ, Frenkel WJ, de Bruijne EL, Deinum J, Kerstens MN, Smulders YM, Woittiez AJ, Wijbenga JA, Zietse R, Danser AH, van den Meiracker AH. Test characteristics of the aldosterone-to-renin ratio as a screening test for primary aldosteronism. J Hypertens 2014; 32: 115-126
- Li X, Goswami R, Yang S, Li Q. Aldosterone/direct renin concentration ratio as a screening test for primary aldosteronism: A meta-analysis. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst 2016; 17:
- Mulatero P, Milan A, Fallo F, Regolisti G, Pizzolo F, Fardella C, Mosso L, Marafetti L, Veglio F, Maccario M. Comparison of confirmatory tests for the diagnosis of primary aldosteronism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006; 91: 2618-2623
- Mulatero P, Bertello C, Garrone C, Rossato D, Mengozzi G, Verhovez A, Fallo F, Veglio F. Captopril test can give misleading results in patients with suspect primary aldosteronism. Hypertension 2007; 50: e26-27
- 102. Meyer A, Brabant G, Behrend M. Long-term follow-up after adrenalectomy for primary aldosteronism. World J Surg 2005; 29: 155-159
- 103. Rossi GP, Cesari M, Cuspidi C, Maiolino G, Cicala MV, Bisogni V, Mantero F, Pessina AC. Long-term control of arterial hypertension and regression of left ventricular hypertrophy with treatment of primary aldosteronism. Hypertension 2013; 62: 62-69
- 104. Karagiannis A, Tziomalos K, Papageorgiou A, Kakafika AI, Pagourelias ED, Anagnostis P, Athyros VG, Mikhailidis DP. Spironolactone versus eplerenone for the treatment of idiopathic hyperaldosteronism. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2008; 9: 509-515
- 105. Young WF, Stanson AW, Thompson GB, Grant CS, Farley DR, van Heerden JA. Role for adrenal venous sampling in primary aldosteronism. Surgery 2004; 136: 1227-1235
- 106. Kempers MJ, Lenders JW, van Outheusden L, van der Wilt GJ, Schultze Kool LJ, Hermus AR, Deinum J. Systematic review: diagnostic procedures to differentiate unilateral from bilateral adrenal abnormality in primary aldosteronism. Ann Intern Med 2009; 151: 329-337
- Dluhy RG, Anderson B, Harlin B, Ingelfinger J, Lifton R. Glucocorticoid-remediable aldosteronism is associated with severe hypertension in early childhood. J Pediatr 2001; 138: 715-720
- Milliez P, Girerd X, Plouin PF, Blacher J, Safar ME, Mourad JJ. Evidence for an increased rate of cardiovascular events in patients with primary aldosteronism. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 45: 1243-1248
- Savard S, Amar L, Plouin PF, Steichen O. Cardiovascular complications associated with primary aldosteronism: a controlled cross-sectional study. Hypertension 2013; 62: 331-336
- 110. Arriza JL, Weinberger C, Cerelli G, Glaser TM, Handelin BL, Housman DE, Evans RM. Cloning of human mineralocorticoid receptor complementary DNA: structural and functional kinship with the glucocorticoid receptor. Science 1987; 237: 268-275
- DuPont JJ, Jaffe IZ. 30 YEARS OF THE MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTOR: The role of the mineralocorticoid receptor in the vasculature. J Endocrinol 2017; 234: T67-T82

- 112. Ruhs S, Nolze A, Hubschmann R, Grossmann C. 30 YEARS OF THE MINERALO-CORTICOID RECEPTOR: Nongenomic effects via the mineralocorticoid receptor. J Endocrinol 2017; 234: T107-T124
- 113. Briet M, Schiffrin EL. Vascular actions of aldosterone. J Vasc Res 2013; 50: 89-99
- 114. Kozakova M, Buralli S, Palombo C, Bernini G, Moretti A, Favilla S, Taddei S, Salvetti A. Myocardial ultrasonic backscatter in hypertension: relation to aldosterone and endothelin. Hypertension 2003; 41: 230-236
- 115. Pimenta E, Gordon RD, Ahmed AH, Cowley D, Leano R, Marwick TH, Stowasser M. Cardiac dimensions are largely determined by dietary salt in patients with primary aldosteronism: results of a case-control study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011; 96: 2813-2820
- 116. Reil JC, Hohl M, Selejan S, Lipp P, Drautz F, Kazakow A, Munz BM, Muller P, Steendijk P, Reil GH, Allessie MA, Bohm M, Neuberger HR. Aldosterone promotes atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J 2012; 33: 2098-2108
- 117. Kagiyama S, Matsumura K, Goto K, Otsubo T, Iida M. Role of Rho kinase and oxidative stress in cardiac fibrosis induced by aldosterone and salt in angiotensin type 1a receptor knockout mice. Regul Pept 2010; 160: 133-139
- 118. Lammers C, Dartsch T, Brandt MC, Rottlander D, Halbach M, Peinkofer G, Ockenpoehler S, Weiergraeber M, Schneider T, Reuter H, Muller-Ehmsen J, Hescheler J, Hoppe UC, Zobel C. Spironolactone prevents aldosterone induced increased duration of atrial fibrillation in rat. Cell Physiol Biochem 2012; 29: 833-840
- 119. Prospective Studies C, Lewington S, Whitlock G, Clarke R, Sherliker P, Emberson J, Halsey J, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55,000 vascular deaths. Lancet 2007; 370: 1829-1839
- 120. Gransbo K, Almgren P, Nilsson PM, Hedblad B, Engstrom G, Melander O. Risk factor exposure in individuals free from cardiovascular disease differs according to age at first myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2016; 37: 1977-1981
- 121. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists C, Fulcher J, O'Connell R, Voysey M, Emberson J, Blackwell L, Mihaylova B, Simes J, Collins R, Kirby A, Colhoun H, Braunwald E, La Rosa J, Pedersen TR, Tonkin A, Davis B, Sleight P, Franzosi MG, Baigent C, Keech A. Efficacy and safety of LDL-lowering therapy among men and women: meta-analysis of individual data from 174,000 participants in 27 randomised trials. Lancet 2015; 385: 1397-1405
- 122. Cannon CP, Blazing MA, Giugliano RP, McCagg A, White JA, Theroux P, Darius H, Lewis BS, Ophuis TO, Jukema JW, De Ferrari GM, Ruzyllo W, De Lucca P, Im K, Bohula EA, Reist C, Wiviott SD, Tershakovec AM, Musliner TA, Braunwald E, Califf RM, Investigators I-I. Ezetimibe Added to Statin Therapy after Acute Coronary Syndromes. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 2387-2397
- 123. Group HTRC, Bowman L, Hopewell JC, Chen F, Wallendszus K, Stevens W, Collins R, Wiviott SD, Cannon CP, Braunwald E, Sammons E, Landray MJ. Effects of Anacetrapib in Patients with Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 1217-1227
- 124. Lopez FL, Agarwal SK, Maclehose RF, Soliman EZ, Sharrett AR, Huxley RR, Konety S, Ballantyne CM, Alonso A. Blood lipid levels, lipid-lowering medications, and the incidence of atrial fibrillation: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2012; 5: 155-162

- 125. Watanabe H, Tanabe N, Yagihara N, Watanabe T, Aizawa Y, Kodama M. Association between lipid profile and risk of atrial fibrillation. Circ J 2011; 75: 2767-2774
- 126. Magnussen C, Niiranen TJ, Ojeda F, Gianfagna F, Blankenberg S, Njolstad I, Vartiainen E, Sans S, Pasterkamp G, Hughes M, Costanzo S, Donati MB, Jousilahti P, Linneberg A, Palosaari T, de Gaetano G, Bobak M, den Ruijter HM, Mathiesen EB, Jorgensen T, Soderberg S, Kuulasmaa K, Zeller T, Iacoviello L, Salomaa V, Schnabel RB, Biomar-Ca REC. Sex Differences and Similarities in Atrial Fibrillation Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Mortality in Community Cohorts: Results From the BiomarCaRE Consortium (Biomarker for Cardiovascular Risk Assessment in Europe). Circulation 2017, DOI: 10.1161/circulationaha.117.028981:
- 127. Alonso A, Yin X, Roetker NS, Magnani JW, Kronmal RA, Ellinor PT, Chen LY, Lubitz SA, McClelland RL, McManus DD, Soliman EZ, Huxley RR, Nazarian S, Szklo M, Heckbert SR, Benjamin EJ. Blood lipids and the incidence of atrial fibrillation: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis and the Framingham Heart Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2014; 3: e001211
- Hasselstrom J, Zarrinkoub R, Holmquist C, Hjerpe P, Ljungman C, Qvarnstrom M, Wettermark B, Manhem K, Kahan T, Bengtsson Bostrom K. The Swedish Primary Care Cardiovascular Database (SPCCD): 74 751 hypertensive primary care patients. Blood Press 2013, DOI: 10.3109/08037051.2013.814829:
- 129. Westerdahl C, Bergenfelz A, Isaksson A, Nerbrand C, Valdemarsson S. Primary aldosteronism among newly diagnosed and untreated hypertensive patients in a Swedish primary care area. Scand J Prim Health Care 2011; 29: 57-62
- 130. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P, Authors/Task Force M, Document R. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS: The Task Force for the management of atrial fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) of the ESCEndorsed by the European Stroke Organisation (ESO). Eur Heart J 2016, DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw210:
- 131. Gorenek B, Pelliccia A, Benjamin EJ, Boriani G, Crijns HJ, Fogel RI, Van Gelder IC, Halle M, Kudaiberdieva G, Lane DA, Bjerregaard Larsen T, Lip GY, Lochen ML, Marin F, Niebauer J, Sanders P, Tokgozoglu L, Vos MA, Van Wagoner DR, Document r, Fauchier L, Savelieva I, Goette A, Agewall S, Chiang CE, Figueiredo M, Stiles M, Dickfeld T, Patton K, Piepoli M, Corra U, Manuel Marques-Vidal P, Faggiano P, Schmid JP, Abreu A. European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA)/European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation (EACPR) position paper on how to prevent atrial fibrillation endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) and Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (APHRS). Eur J Prev Cardiol 2017; 24: 4-40
- 132. Okin PM, Hille DA, Larstorp AC, Wachtell K, Kjeldsen SE, Dahlof B, Devereux RB. Effect of lower on-treatment systolic blood pressure on the risk of atrial fibrillation in hypertensive patients. Hypertension 2015; 66: 368-373
- Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic syndrome--a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. Diabet Med 2006; 23: 469-480
- 134. Chamberlain AM, Agarwal SK, Ambrose M, Folsom AR, Soliman EZ, Alonso A. Metabolic syndrome and incidence of atrial fibrillation among blacks and whites in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am Heart J 2010; 159: 850-856

- 135. Wang TJ, Parise H, Levy D, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Wolf PA, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ. Obesity and the risk of new-onset atrial fibrillation. JAMA 2004; 292: 2471-2477
- 136. Frost L, Hune LJ, Vestergaard P. Overweight and obesity as risk factors for atrial fibrillation or flutter: the Danish Diet, Cancer, and Health Study. Am J Med 2005; 118: 489-495
- 137. Fontes JD, Lyass A, Massaro JM, Rienstra M, Dallmeier D, Schnabel RB, Wang TJ, Vasan RS, Lubitz SA, Magnani JW, Levy D, Ellinor PT, Fox CS, Benjamin EJ. Insulin resistance and atrial fibrillation (from the Framingham Heart Study). Am J Cardiol 2012; 109: 87-90
- Iguchi Y, Kimura K, Shibazaki K, Aoki J, Kobayashi K, Sakai K, Sakamoto Y. Annual incidence of atrial fibrillation and related factors in adults. Am J Cardiol 2010; 106: 1129-1133
- Movahed MR, Hashemzadeh M, Jamal MM. Diabetes mellitus is a strong, independent risk for atrial fibrillation and flutter in addition to other cardiovascular disease. Int J Cardiol 2005; 105: 315-318
- Dart C. Lipid microdomains and the regulation of ion channel function. J Physiol 2010; 588: 3169-3178
- 141. Coronel R. The pro- or antiarrhythmic actions of polyunsaturated fatty acids and of cholesterol. Pharmacol Ther 2017; 176: 40-47
- 142. Maguy A, Hebert TE, Nattel S. Involvement of lipid rafts and caveolae in cardiac ion channel function. Cardiovasc Res 2006; 69: 798-807
- Mora S, Akinkuolie AO, Sandhu RK, Conen D, Albert CM. Paradoxical association of lipoprotein measures with incident atrial fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2014; 7: 612-619
- Mittendorfer B. Sexual dimorphism in human lipid metabolism. J Nutr 2005; 135: 681-686
- 145. Inukai T, Takanashi K, Takebayashi K, Tayama K, Aso Y, Takiguchi Y, Takemura Y. Estrogen markedly increases LDL-receptor activity in hypercholesterolemic patients. J Med 2000; 31: 247-261
- 146. Tchernof A, Desmeules A, Richard C, Laberge P, Daris M, Mailloux J, Rheaume C, Dupont P. Ovarian hormone status and abdominal visceral adipose tissue metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89: 3425-3430
- 147. Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim JL, Reuterwall C, Heurgren M, Olausson PO. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. BMC Public Health 2011; 11: 450
- 148. Emdin CA, Callender T, Cao J, Rahimi K. Effect of antihypertensive agents on risk of atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis of large-scale randomized trials. Europace 2015; 17: 701-710
- 149. Rahimi K, Emberson J, McGale P, Majoni W, Merhi A, Asselbergs FW, Krane V, Macfarlane PW, Executive P. Effect of statins on atrial fibrillation: collaborative meta-analysis of published and unpublished evidence from randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2011; 342: d1250